
Union Calendar No. 292

l 0 2 d C o n g r e s s ,  2 d S e s s i o n - - - - - - - - - - - H o u s e R e p o r t 1 0 2 - 4 9 9 

MISPLACED TRUST: THE BUREAU OF INDIAN AF
FAIRS' MISMANAGEMENT OF THE INDIAN TRUST 
FUND 

SEVENTEENTH REPORT 

BY THE 

COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT 
OPERATIONS 

APRIL 22, 1992.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the 
State of the Union and ordered to be printed 

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE 

54-438 WASHINGTON : 1992 

54-438 - 92 - 1




COMMITTEE ON GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS 

JOHN CONYERS, JR., Michigan, Chairman 
CARDISS COLLINS, Illinois 
GLENN ENGLISH, Oklahoma 
HENRY A. WAXMAN, California 
TED WEISS, New York 
MIKE SYNAR, Oklahoma 
STEPHEN L. NEAL, North Carolina 
DOUG BARNARD, JR., Georgia 
TOM LANTOS, California 
ROBERT E. WISE, JR., West Virginia 
BARBARA BOXER, California 
MAJOR R. OWENS, New York 
EDOLPHUS TOWNS, New York 
BEN ERDREICH, Alabama 
GERALD D. KLECZKA, Wisconsin 
ALBERT G. BUSTAMANTE, Texas 
MATTHEW G. MARTINEZ, California 
DONALD M. PAYNE, New Jersey 
GARY A. CONDIT, California 
PATSY T. MINK, Hawaii 
RAY THORNTON, Arkansas 
COLLIN C. PETERSON, Minnesota 
ROSA L. DELAURO, Connecticut 
CHARLES J. LUKEN, Ohio 
JOHN W. COX,JR., Illinois 

FRANK HORTON, New York 
WILLIAM F. CLINGER, JR., Pennsylvania 
AL McCANDLESS, California 
J. DENNIS HASTERT, Illinois 
JON L. KYL, Arizona 
CHRISTOPHER SHAYS, Connecticut 
STEVEN SCHIFF, New Mexico 
C. CHRISTOPHER COX, California 
CRAIG THOMAS, Wyoming 
ILEANA ROS-LEHTINEN, Florida 
RONALD K. MACHTLEY. Rhode Island 
DICK ZIMMER, New Jersey 
WILLIAM H. ZELIFF, JR., New Hampshire 
DAVID L. HOBSON, Ohio 
SCOTT L. KLUG, Wisconsin 

BERNARD SANDERS, Vermont 
(Independent) 

JULIAN EPSTEIN, Staff Director 
DONALD W. UPSON, Minority Staff Director 

ENVIRONMENT, ENERGY, AND NATURAL RESOURCES SUBCOMMITTEE 

MIKE SYNAR, Oklahoma, Chairman 
EDOLPHUS TOWNS, New York WILLIAM F. CLINGER, JR., Pennsylvania 
ALBERT G. BUSTAMANTE, Texas DAVID L. HOBSON, Ohio 
BEN ERDREICH, Alabama SCOTT L. KLUG, Wisconsin 
CHARLES J. LUKEN, Ohio 
JOHN W. COX,JR., Illinois 

Ex OFFICIO 

JOHN CONYERS, JR., Michigan FRANK HORTON, New York 
SANDRA Z. HARRIS, Staff Director 

STEVE RICHARDSON, Professional Staff Member 
ELISABETH R. CAMPBELL, Clerk 

JUDY BLANCHARD, Minority Professional Staff 

(II) 



LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES, 
Washington, DC, April 22, 1992. 

Hon. THOMAS S. FOLEY, 
Speaker of the House of Representatives,
Washington, DC. 

DEAR MR. SPEAKER: By direction of the Committee on Govern
ment Operations, I submit herewith the committee's 17th report to 
the 102d Congress. The committee's report is based on a study 
made by its Environment, Energy, and Natural Resources Subcom
mittee. 

JOHN CONYERS, Jr., Chairman. 

(III) 



CONTENTS


I. Abstract 1

II. Background 6


III. Trust fund management problems are not new 8

IV. Committee investigation 13


a. BIA's failure to comply with congressional directives 15

b. BIA's failed attempt to privatize the Indian trust fund 28

c. BIA's failure to comply with the Brooks Act 35

d. BIA's failure to establish a comprehensive loss policy 36

e. BIA's failure to implement the recommendations of the Govern


ment Operations Committee 45

f. BIA's failure to prepare a strategic plan 50


V. Summary 56

VI. Findings 57


VII. Recommendations 59

a. Solving BIA's financial management deficiencies 59

b. Solving BIA's accountability and financial reporting problems 61

c. Compensating losses due to BIA's mismanagement 62

d. Reporting on efforts to resolve BIA's problems 62

e. Solving BIA's accountability problems 62

f. Resolving BIA's problems by transferring the Indian trust fund 65


(V) 



Union Calendar No. 292 
HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES 

MISPLACED TRUST: THE BUREAU OF INDIAN AFFAIRS' 
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APRIL 22, 1992.—Committed to the Committee of the Whole House on the State of 
the Union and ordered to be printed 

Mr. CONYERS, from the Committee on Government Operations, 
submitted the following 

SEVENTEENTH REPORT 

BASED ON A STUDY BY THE ENVIRONMENT, ENERGY, AND NATURAL 
RESOURCES SUBCOMMITTEE 

On April 1, 1992, the Committee on Government Operations ap
proved and adopted a report entitled "Misplaced Trust: The Bureau 
of Indian Affairs' Mismanagement of the Indian Trust Fund." The 
chairman was directed to transmit a copy to the Speaker of the 
House. 

I. ABSTRACT 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] was created as a part of the 
War Department in 1824 1 and transferred to the Department of 
the Interior at the time of that Department's creation in 1849.2 The 
Snyder Act of 1921 3 provided authority to carry out the govern
ment's relationship with and responsibilities toward native Ameri
cans. The scope and character of the BIA's activities were broad
ened by the Indian Reorganization Act of 1934,4 the Indian Self-De-
termination and Education Assistance Act of 1975 5 and title XI of 
the Education Amendments of 1978.6 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs has a duty to actively encourage 
and train native Americans and Alaska Natives to manage their 

1 19th Congress, first session, House document 146, at 6.
2 Act of Mar. 3, 1849, c. 108 § 1, 43 U.S.C. 1451, 9 Stat. 395.
3 25 U.S.C. 13, 42 Stat. 208.
4 25 U.S.C. 461 et seq., 48 Stat. 984.
5 25 U.S.C. 450, 88 Stat. 2203.
6 20 U.S.C. 270, Public Law 89-10, 92 Stat. 2153. 
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own affairs; to seek adequate educational opportunities in public 
education systems; to promote and improve the social welfare of 
native Americans and Alaska Natives and provide needed social 
and community development; and to work with native Americans 
irr the development and implementation of programs for their eco
nomic advancement and for full utilization of their natural re-
sources consistent with the principles of resource conservation. Ad
ditionally, the Bureau acts as trustee lor federally recognized tribes 
and their enrolled members. As trustee for lands and money held 
in trust by the United States, the BIA is responsible for managing 
and investing almost $2 billion in tribal and individual Indian 
funds. 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs' [BIA] management of Indian trust 
funds is the subject of this report. These trust funds include the 
tribal trust fund and the individual Indian money [IIM] trust fund. 
As of September 30, 1991, approximately 330 tribes have an inter
est in the tribal trust fund; however, some tribes have multiple ac
counts. As a result, approximately 2,965 separate accounts com
prise the tribal trust fund. The tribes do not participate equally in 
the fund. In fact, according to Bureau of Indian Affairs' Office of 
Trust Fund Management, 77 percent of the Fund assets are held by
8 percent of the tribes.7 

The IIM trust fund is a deposit fund, usually not voluntary, for 
individual participants and tribes. It was originally intended to 
provide banking services for legally incompetent Indian adults and 
Indian minors without legal guardians. In addition to these fiduci
ary accounts, the IIM trust fund now contains deposit accounts for 
certain tribal operations and for some tribal enterprises. Approxi
mately 300,000 accounts are held in the IIM trust fund. 

Scores of reports over the years by the Interior Department's in
spector general, the U.S. General Accounting Office, the Office of 
Management and Budget, and others have documented significant, 
habitual problems in BIA's ability to fully and accurately account 
for trust fund moneys, to properly discharge its fiduciary responsi
bilities, and to prudently manage the trust funds. 

During the subcommittee's four oversight hearings on this sub
ject, subcommittee members expressed serious concern over the Bu
reau's inexcusable slowness in resolving the persistent manage
ment deficiencies that have plagued the trust fund program. Now, 
over 2 years after the subcommittee's first oversight hearing, our 
continuing review suggests that only marginal progress has been 
made by the Bureau of Indian Affairs in recognizing and correcting
these problems. 

The committee is particularly troubled by BIA's efforts—under
taken only grudgingly—to implement repeated congressional direc
tives designed to provide a full and accurate accounting of the indi
vidual and tribal account funds. Over the course of the Environ
ment, Energy, and Natural Resources Subcommittee's 3-year inves
tigation, only minimal progress on this effort has been made, and 
BIA continues to move at a snail's pace. The committee is equally 

7 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Tribal and Individual Indian Moneys Trust Funds Managed by the 
U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, Financial Statements as of Sept. 30, 
1988, Together With Report of Independent Public Accountants," Mar. 23, 1989, at 6. 



concerned over the BIA's failure to implement numerous inspector 
general recommendations regarding establishment of a trust fund 
loss policy; failure to prepare and implement a strategic manage
ment plan as urged by the Office of Management and Budget,8 the 
Comptroller General of the United States,9 the House Committee 
on Appropriations,10 and the subcommittee; its failure to comply
with the Brooks Act, governing acquisition of automatic data proc
essing equipment and services; and, its failure to implement past 
recommendations of the Committee on Government Operations. In 
short, the Bureau of Indian Affairs has repeatedly failed to take 
resolute corrective action to reform its longstanding financial man
agement problems. 

Additionally, the Bureau wasted more than 2 years and as much 
as $1 million of taxpayer money attempting—inappropriately and 
unsuccessfully—to privatize its financial management responsibil
ities over the Indian trust fund. In fact, despite the contractor's re
peated failures to deliver anything of value in return for substan
tial monthly payments for services, the Bureau never even both
ered to demand performance by the contractor. Moreover, the 
Bureau persisted in its attempts to transfer financial management 
services for the Indian trust to a commercial bank even after Con
gress had directed it not to do so—five times. And in its ultimate 
affront to Congress and the accountholders of the Indian trust 
fund, the Bureau gave a $5,000 cash award for management excel
lence to the headquarters employee who helped design and oversee 
this privatization fiasco. 

The Bureau has repeatedly ignored directives to undertake 
needed management reform measures. For example, in September 
1989, the inspector general of the Department of the Interior rec
ommended that the Bureau establish written procedures that de-
scribe when the Bureau is liable for losses of Indian trust funds 
and how Indian accountholders will be reimbursed in those cases 
for which the Bureau is liable and to prepare and implement a 
Bureau procedure that recognizes investment losses of trust funds 
and ensures that reimbursement of the losses plus interest will be 
made, where appropriate, within a reasonable time after sustaining
the losses. Two and one-half years later, little has been done. Al
though a loss policy statement was distributed sometime after Oc
tober 16, 1991, it fails to make anyone at the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs accountable for its implementation or enforcement. Signifi
cantly, this so-called loss policy developed by the Bureau—appar
ently without the assistance and concurrence of the Office of Solici
tor at the Department of the Interior—misstates the Federal Gov
ernment's legal and ethical responsibility to pay interest on indi
vidual Indian money accounts that are invested. This so-called loss 
policy confuses examples in which the fiduciary—the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs—is clearly responsible to repay interest earned in 

8 Letter from Executive Associate Director, Office of Management and Budget to Under Secre
tary of the Interior, Oct. 4, 1989, attachment B. 

9 Letter from Director of Civil Audits, U.S. General Accounting Office to Assistant Secretary 
of the Interior for Indian Affairs, May 6, 1991. 

10 House Committee on Appropriations, Department of the Interior and Related Agencies Ap
propriations Report, 1992, House Report 102-116, 102d Congress, 1st session, June 19, 1991, at 
62. 



instances in which IIM account proceeds are either not invested or 
underinvested. Moreover, no accountholders, who suffered losses 
which were discovered prior to BIA's recent effort to audit and rec
oncile tribal and IIM accounts, have been notified of losses as a 
result of the policy and no funds have been requested from Con
gress for reimbursements and no reimbursements for losses result
ing from Bureau errors have been made. This so-called loss policy
is superficial at best, and is unlikely to correct well-documented de
ficiencies and long overdue reforms. 

The Bureau has been slow to implement other reform directives. 
For example, in October 1989, the President's Office of Manage
ment and Budget identified the Bureau of Indian Affairs' manage
ment of the Indian trust fund as a high risk activity and directed 
the Department "to identify its weaknesses in the Departments 
budget and operating plans to assure that appropriate resources 
were allocated to correct the problems." 11 In other words, the 
Bureau needed to amend its plans for correcting longstanding fi
nancial management deficiencies in BIA's management of the 
Indian trust fund. At the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, hearing, 
the Bureau stated that it had not developed a comprehensive plan 
to correct all control weaknesses. In fact, there still is no plan. 

In November 1990, President Bush signed the Chief Financial Of
ficers [CFO] Act.12 Among other things, that act required 23 execu
tive agencies to reorganize their financial management systems, or
ganization, and staffing to remedy longstanding financial manage
ment problems. This was another opportunity for the Bureau to ad-
dress its longstanding financial management problems fully and 
forthrightly. However, BIA has not yet selected its Bureau CFO, 
who would be responsible for Indian trust funds and financial man
agement, among other duties. 

On May 6, 1991, the Comptroller General of the U.S. General Ac
counting Office [GAO] wrote Secretary of the Interior Manuel 
Lujan, Jr., and the Bureau directing the Department and BIA to 
prepare a written statement of actions to be taken to complete and 
to correct the management deficiencies plaguing the Bureau; to de
velop plans and timetables for completing the audit and reconcilia
tion of Indian trust accounts; and to develop policies and proce
dures to ensure that Indian trust fund balances remain accurate 
after the accounts are reconciled. Under Federal law the Depart
ment of the Interior was obligated to respond to the Comptroller 
General's recommendations by July 7, 1991. It failed to do so. In 
fact, the Department of the Interior's August 1, 1991, response 
failed to adequately address any of the Comptroller General's rec
ommendations. 

Finally, at the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, oversight hearing, 
Chairman Synar asked the Bureau about progress on a BIA strate
gic plan as well as the Bureau's efforts to implement the Commit-
tee on Government Operations' July 1985 report addressing the 
persistent problems in implementing a comprehensive program to 

11 Letter from Executive Associate Director, Office of Management and Budget to Under Sec
retary of the Interior, Oct. 4, 1989, attachment B. See also: Secretary of the Interior, "Annual 
Statement and Report, Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act," Dec. 21, 1989, at 2.

12 5 U.S.C. §§ 5313, 5315; 31 U.S.C. §§ 501, 502-506, 901, 902, 903, 1105, 3511, 3512, 3515, 3521, 
9105, 9106; 38 U.S.C. 201; 42 U.S.C. § 3533; Public Law 101-576, 104 Stat. 2044. 
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assure fair and timely payment of Indian oil and gas royalty pay
ments—management and accounting problems related to those con-
fronting the Indian trust funds. The Bureau reported at that 
time—6 years later—that no such plan exists. In fact, the Bureau 
admitted that no interest from royalty income has been distributed 
to an accountholder since 1985. Indeed, most of the problems noted 
by the committee's 1985 report persist unabated. 

The subcommittee's review of the Bureau's various management 
improvement initiatives revealed that comprehensive corrective ac
tions were rarely undertaken and almost never carried through to 
a successful conclusion. Instead, the Bureau has routinely compiled 
running inventories of projects and initiatives without even at-
tempting to knit these efforts together into a cohesive framework. 
Although the Bureau is chronically behind schedule—even on self-
imposed deadlines—it rarely bothers to justify or even explain its 
delays in implementing corrective actions. Indeed, the only thing 
that seems to stimulate a flurry of activity at the Bureau is an im
pending appearance by the Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs 
before a congressional committee. Afterward, all reform activities 
appear to suspend until shortly before the next oversight session. 

As a result of this dismal history of inaction and incompetence, 
there is no assurance that the Bureau actually desires to, or will, 
make any substantial advancement toward rectifying the basic fi
nancial management failures brought to their attention. Despite a 
decade of initiatives, the Bureau's headquarters leadership and ac
countability continue to be woefully inadequate. Although many 
significant problems continue to be cited by the inspector general, 
GAO, OMB, by independent accounting firms, and the Subcommit
tee on Environment, Energy and Natural Resources, the Bureau's 
top officials remain quick to promise, but slow to perform. Only 
marginal and grudging progress has been made by the Bureau 
since the subcommittee began its oversight efforts in 1989. As a 
result, on the whole, the subcommittee is unable to report a posi
tive picture of the Bureau's headquarters' concern over the man
agement of this program. 

This absence of interest and attention by the Bureau's top offi
cials also undermines the ability of many dedicated, hard-working 
Bureau employees—especially at area and agency offices—to effect 
improvements in service to Indian trust fund accountholders. It is 
apparent that top officials at the Bureau of Indian Affairs have ut
terly failed to grasp the human impact of its financial management 
of the Indian trust fund. The Indian trust fund is more than bal
ance sheets and accounting procedures. These moneys are crucial 
to the daily operations of native American tribes and a source of 
income to tens of thousands of native Americans. 

To the extent the Bureau has made any progress in this area, it 
appears that the subcommittee's continuing oversight hearings 
have been virtually the only reason. It can only be hoped that the 
Committee on Government Operations' report and recommenda
tions will have a still greater effect on the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs' management of the Indian trust funds. 



II. BACKGROUND 

The system of trusteeship and Federal management of Indian 
funds is deeply rooted in Indian-U.S. history. Treaties are the first 
and probably most important means by which trust funds were 
held by the United States for the benefit of individual Indians or 
tribes. While the earliest treaties did not provide that the United 
States retain funds in trust for the tribes, in 1820 the Federal Gov
ernment adopted the policy of holding tribal funds in trust.13 

The various indian trust fund account balances now total about 
$2 billion. Federal law 14 requires that these moneys be deposited in 
the U.S. Treasury or managed in trust by the United States.15 

Since 1918,16 the Interior Department's Bureau of Indian Affairs 
has had the legal authority to invest Indian funds held in trust. 
However, it was not until 1966 that the Bureau exercised its full 
range of investment authority authorized by statute.17 Until 1984, 
these funds on deposit in the Treasury earned simple interest at 4 
percent per year. After 1984, the Secretary of the Treasury was 
permitted to pay a variable rate of interest on these funds, taking 
into consideration current market yields on U.S. obligations of 
comparable maturities.18 Now, BIA is authorized to withdraw tribal 
and individual indian money trust funds from the Treasury and de-
posit the funds in financial institutions yielding higher rates of 
return. To ensure the safety of these funds, such investments must 
be unconditionally secured either through Government deposit in
surance or through pledging collateral guaranteed by the U.S. Gov
ernment. 

Historically, the trust fund comprised three types of funds held 
by the United States: (1) Indian moneys, proceeds of labor [IMPL], 
including all proceeds of "pasturage and sales of timber, coal or 
other product of any Indian Reservation * * * and not the result of 
labor of any member of such tribe"; (2) tribal and individual Indian 
money [IIM] accounts; and (3) tribal trust funds, often containing 
payments for cession of land. Today, IMPL accounts are being 
phased out and replaced by tribal and individual accounts pursuant 

19to a 1981 act of Congress. Accordingly, the $2 billion in trust 

13 Letter to Treaty Commissioners, October 18, 1820, reprinted in "American State Papers, 
Indian Affairs," vol. 2 at 233. 

14 25 U.S.C. 152, Act of Jan. 9, 1837, c. 1, § 1, 5 Stat. 135; 25 U.S.C. 162a, 52 Stat. 1037. 
15 25 U.S.C. 162a, 52 Stat. 1037.
16 Act of May 25, 1918, c. 86 § 28, 40 Stat. 591; repealed by section 2 of act of June 24, 1938, 25 

U.S.C. 162a, 53 Stat. 1037. 
17 From the 1920's to the mid 1960's, most tribal funds were maintained in the Treasury and 

paid interest under the authority of 25 U.S.C. 161a, act of Feb. 12, 1929, c. 178, § 1, 45 Stat. 1164, 
which provides "that all funds with account balances exceeding $500 held in trust by the United 
States and carried in principal accounts on the books of the Treasury Department to the credit 
of Indian tribes, upon which interest is not otherwise authorized by law, shall bear simple inter
est at the rate of 4 per centum per annum." This occurred because a return of 4 percent per 
year was considered adequate by BIA and because there were very few investment opportunities 
within the confines of 25 U.S.C. 162a, that is, unconditional security. However, in the early
1960's some BIA area offices began to withdraw balances from the Treasury and invested in 
bank certificates of deposit (CD's) at whatever rates were available. BIA headquarters adopted 
its first formal investment program and policy in 1966. Subsequently, responsibility for invest
ments was moved from area offices to centralized location at Albuquerque, NM. For discussion, 
see: American Indian Policy Review Commission, Task Force No. 9, "Financial Management of 
Indian Funds by the Bureau of Indian Affairs," Aug. 18, 1976, at 306. 

18 25 U.S.C. 161a, as amended Oct. 4, 1984, Public Law 98-451 § 1, 98 Stat. 1729.
19 25 U.S.C. 155b, 96 Stat. 839, Public Law 97-257; 95 Stat. 1400, Public Law 97-100. 



funds now consists chiefly of tribal and individual accounts. These 
funds are derived from a variety of sources, including: judgments 
awards; oil and gas royalty income; land leases; timber stumpage; 
and investment income. One of the largest sources of income to the 
tribal trust funds consists of judgments from Indian Claims Com
mission cases.20 

Congress has carefully regulated the disbursement of Indian 
trust funds. In 1916, Congress prohibited expenditures from tribal 
funds without specific appropriation by Congress except for the fol
lowing categories: equalization allotments; education of Indian chil
dren; and per capita and other payments.21 Over the years, these 
limitations have been broadened to include use of trust funds to 
purchase insurance for protection of tribal property, travel and 
other expenses of tribal councils and other organizations to any 
purpose designated by the governing body of the particular tribe, 
provided that the Secretary of the Interior approves.22 

The Federal courts have held that the Government's fiduciary
duties to native Americans are determined first by Federal statutes 
and, in the absence of particular authority, by the "relationships 
between the Government and the particular tribe." 23 The most 
fundamental fiduciary responsibility of the government, and the 
Bureau, is the duty to make a full accounting of the property and 
funds held in trust for the 300,000 beneficiaries of Indian trust 
funds. This function includes the continuing obligation to report to 
the tribes and individual accountholders about the Federal Govern
ment's management of the trust funds. The standard for this re-
porting as set down by the courts is to inform the tribe "in clear 
terms the specific investments made with the Band's [that is, 
tribe's] money, the rate of interest, and the amount earned on each 
investment." 24 

The Government's obligation to account for Indian trust funds 
requires it to "affirmatively establish that it [has] properly dis
charged its trust." 25 Indeed, the Government's failure to demon
strate the accuracy of its accounting of trust funds could be ad-
judged sufficient to establish the Government's liability to the 
tribes for a breach of its fiduciary duties. 

Apart from the duty to account, the Federal Government has a 
fiduciary duty to "maximize the trust income by prudent invest
ment," and the burden to justify less than a maximum return.26 

This responsibility requires the Government to stay well-informed 
about the rates of return and investment opportunities and to in
telligently choose from among authorized investment opportunities 
to obtain the highest rate of return to make the trust funds produc
tive. 

20 25 U.S.C. § 70, act of Aug. 13, 1946, c. 959, § 1, 60 Stat. 1049, the Indian Claims Commission 
jurisdiction over claims accruing prior to Aug. 13, 1946, was terminated on Sept. 30, 1978. The 
U.S. Claims Court now has jurisdiction, 28 U.S.C. 1505, Federal Courts Improvements Act of 
1982, Public Law 97-164, 96 Stat. 252. 

21 25 U.S.C. 123, act of May 18, 1916, c. 125, §27, 39 Stat. 158.
22 25 U.S.C. 123 a, act of Apr. 13, 1926, c. 118, 44 Stat.; act of Aug. 2, 1946, c. 754, 60 Stat 852; 

25 U.S.C. 123 b, act of May 9, 1938, c. 187, 1, 52 Stat. 315. 
23 Navajo Tribe of Indians v. United States, 624 F.2d 981, 988 (Ct. Cl. 1980).
24 Manchester Band of Porno Indians v. United States, 363 F.Supp. 1238, 1248 (N. D. Cal. 1973).
25 Navajo Tribe, supra at 988.
26 Cheyenne-Arapaho Tribes of Oklahoma v. United States, 512 F.2d 1390, 1394 (Ct. Cl. 1975). 
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The Federal Government's duty to make the Indian trust funds 
productive also extends to the collection and disbursement process
es. Tribal income deposited in the Treasury must be invested in in
terest-bearing accounts within 30 days after receipt by Government 
agents. 27 Moreover, the Federal Government is responsible for in
terest lost by delays beyond 30 days in depositing funds, 28 and it is 
liable for lost interest caused by an inordinate delay between the 
date of withdrawal from the Treasury, when the funds stop earning 
interest, and the date of actual disbursement. 29 

Thus, the role of the Bureau in management and supervision of 
the Indian trust funds is the result of a complex set of responsibil
ities imposed by treaties, statutes, and court decisions. However, 
the Bureau's fiduciary responsibilities are not dissimilar to the 
duties performed by many private trustees. 

The challenge for the Bureau is to provide competent and reli
able trust services. To fulfill these important obligations it is neces
sary for the agency to fully understand both its fiduciary duties 
and the financial marketplace. Stated simply these fundamental 
assignments are: To accurately account to the beneficiary; to make 
accounts productive for the beneficiaries; and to maximize the trust 
income through prudent investment. To successfully perform these 
tasks, the Bureau of Indian Affairs, as any fiduciary, must conduct 
itself as a sophisticated investor, a smart shopper, and a highly 
diligent and resourceful manager. 

Unfortunately, as discussed more fully in the next section, the 
Bureau has not succeeded at any of these tasks. It has not efficient
ly and effectively managed the Indian trust fund. Moreover, the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs has failed to perform responsibilities as a 
sophisticated trustee. In sum, the Bureau has failed to fulfill its fi
duciary responsibilities. 

III. TRUST FUND MANAGEMENT PROBLEMS ARE NOT NEW 

On October 26, 1989, April 24, 1990, September 25, 1990, and May
20, 1991, the Environment, Energy, and Natural Resources Sub-
committee held public hearings to review the problems surround
ing BIA's management of the $2 billion Indian trust fund. Evidence 
gathered and testimony presented to the subcommittee during this 
on-going investigation demonstrate that despite clear guidance on 
its fiduciary duties contained in treaties, law, and court decisions, 
the BIA's indifferent supervision and control of the Indian trust 
funds has consistently resulted in a failure to exercise its responsi
bility and any reasonable expectations of the tribal and individual 
accountholders, Congress, and taxpayers. 

Few of these BIA management problems are new. For example, 
in 1828—just 4 years after its creation—H.R. Schoolcraft described 
the Bureau's financial management as follows: 

The derangements in the fiscal affairs of the Indian de
partment are in the extreme. One would think that appro-

27 Menominee Tribe v. United States, 107 Ct. Cl. 23, 32-33 (1946).
28 Southern Ute Tribe v. United States, 17 Ct. Cl. 28, 41 (1966).
29 Te-Moak Band of Western Shosone v. United States, 23 Ind. Cl. Comm. 70, 80 (1970). 



priations had been handled with a pitchfork * * * there is 
a screw loose in the public machinery somewhere.30 

One hundred sixty-three years later, Schoolcraft's assessment of 
the BIA's financial management still rings true. BIA's administra
tion of the Indian trust fund continues to make the accounts look 
as though they had been handled with a pitchfork. Undoubtedly, 
there is a screw loose in the public machinery at the Bureau. 
Indeed, while mismanagement of the Indian trust fund has been re-
ported for more than a century, there is no evidence that either 
the Bureau or the Department of the Interior has undertaken any
sustained or comprehensive effort to resolve glaring deficiencies. 

Today, BIA has serious financial management problems permeat
ing almost every aspect of its five trust principal accounting sys
tems, as well as, other systems which provide financial information 
to those systems including the Mineral Management Service's roy
alty management systems. While tribes, individual Indians and 
Congress have long been concerned about the accuracy of BIA's ac
counting for trust receipts and disbursements, the Bureau and the 
Interior Department have simply failed to undertake effective, cor
rective actions. 

For example, in 1982, the General Accounting Office [GAO] re-
ported 31 that BIA's appropriation and trust fund accounting sys
tems needed major improvements. At that time GAO found that 
the information produced by BIA's accounting system was unreli
able; that trust accounts had not been reconciled with the agency's 
general ledger to ensure correct account balances; and that con
trols over cash receipts and disbursements were inadequate. 

These 1982 findings were not new. Essentially, the same findings 
were embodied in the GAO's 1928, 1952, and 1955 audits of the 
Indian trust fund: 

* * * deficiencies include disbursements of individual 
Indian moneys without adequate support, deficiencies in 
accounting for cash and bonds and in the computation and 
distribution of interest income, and other weaknesses in 
internal procedures.32 

At the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, oversight hearing, the Gen
eral Accounting Office provided the following summary of the long-
term problems in the Bureau of Indian Affairs' administration and 
management of the $2 billion Indian trust fund: 

30 Schoolcraft, personal memoirs, at 319, reprinted in "The Office of Indian Affairs, Service 
Monographs of the United Sates Government No. 48," Institute for Government Research, the 
Johns Hopkins Press, 1927, at 27.

31 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Major Improvement Needed in the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs' Accounting System," Report No. GAO/AFMD-82-71, Sept. 8, 1982, at 5, 11, 13, 14, 15, and 
17. See also: U.S. General Accounting Office, "Indian Funds, a Report of the Amount of the 
Funds of the Indians, the Investment Thereof, the Rate of Interest Thereon Together With Com
ments Pertinent to the Use Made of Such Funds," U.S. Senate Document No. 263. 70th Cong. 2d 
Sess., Feb. 25 (calendar day, Mar. 1), 1929. U.S. General Accounting Office, Study and Investiga
tion for the Purpose of Ascertaining the Amounts of the Funds and Securities of the Several 
Indian Tribes, Including Those of Tribal Organizations, Whether Held in the Treasury of The 
United States, in Private Banks or Elsewhere," Report No. I-17218, Apr. 1, 1952. U.S. General 
Accounting Office, "Audit Report to the Congress of the United States, Administration of Indi
vidual Indian Moneys by Bureau of Indian Affairs, Department of the Interior," Report No. B-
114868, November 1955. 

32 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Administration of Individual Indian Moneys by Bureau of 
Indian Affairs," B-114868, November 1955, at 1. 
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(1) Inadequate systems for accounting for and reporting trust 
fund balances; 

(2) Inadequate controls over receipts and disbursements; 
(3) Absence of periodic, timely reconciliations to assure accu

racy of accounts; 
(4) Inability to determine accurate cash balances; 
(5) Failure to consistently and prudently invest trust funds 

and/or pay interest to account holders; 
(6) Inability to prepare and supply accountholders with 

meaningful periodic statements of their account balances; 
(7) Absence of consistent, written policies and procedures for 

trust fund management and accounting; and 
(8) Inadequate staffing, supervision, and training. 

Just since 1982, more than 30 audits have been performed by the 
Office of Inspector General [OIG] of the Department of the Interior 
and public accounting firms hired by BIA.33 Each of these reports 
have noted serious accounting and financial management problems 
and weak internal controls throughout BIA. Following is a summa
ry of the OIG findings: 

Individual Indian money accounts.34—The BIA does not 
have a centralized managerial operation with responsibil
ity and control over all aspects of the individual Indian 
money operation. Many BIA agency offices did not recon
cile their account balances with BIA's control account bal
ances, did not meet their trust responsibilities relating to 
funds held in supervised accounts, and made significant 
errors in computing interest payable on IIM's. The BIA 
agency offices have numerous accounting errors and other 
internal control weaknesses. 

Oil and gas royalty payments.35—Royalties were not dis
tributed to Indian mineral owners in a timely manner. In
terest earned on oil and gas revenues deposited in special 
accounts and U.S. Treasury accounts were not distributed 
to tribes and individual Indians. Oil and gas collections 
were not deposited on time. 

Judgment award funds.36—Improper accounting entries 
and inadequate internal controls resulted in overdisburse
ments of judgment award funds and negative account bal
ances. Permanent investment accounts were reduced below 
authorized levels. Funds were not distributed to IIM ac
countholders. 

Leasing and realty operations.37 Agricultural lands re
mained unleased for extended periods, and leases were not 

33 See, for example: Office of Inspector Genera l , "F ina l Audi t Repor t on Selected Aspects of 
Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Affairs," Report No. 89-117, Sept. 29, 1989; 
Price-Waterhouse, "Task Reports," 1983 and 1984; Arthur Andersen & Co., "Tribal and Individ
ual Indian Monies Trust Funds, Report of Independent Auditors," Financial Statements as of 
Sept. 30, 1989 and 1988; May 11, 1990. 

34 Nine OIG audits from 1983 to 1988, See: Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, 
"Final Audit Report on Selected Aspects of Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Af
fairs," Report No. 89-117, September 1989, appendix 2, at 22. 

35 Four OIG audits from 1983, to 1986, Id. at 23.
36 Ten OIG audits in 1988, Id. at 23-24. 
37 Five OIG audits from 1982 to 1984, Id. at 24-25. 
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reissued in a timely manner. Fair market rental rates and 
grazing fees were not charged. Delinquent rents were not 
collected, and interest was not collected on late rental pay
ments. Rents were not properly allocated to landowners 
and concerns about the accuracy of land ownership records 
were raised, particularly in relation to handling of estate 
transactions. 

Extensive as they may seem, the inspector general reports 
present a short list of the financial management and accounting 
failures of BIA. Indeed, these difficulties are symptomatic of the 
chronic problems of BIA management—problems magnified by an 
accounting system that cannot tell the tribes and individual Indi
ans or IIM accountholders how much money they have in their ac
counts. 

In 1982, Congress passed the Federal Managers' Financial Integ
rity Act [FMFIA]38 directing each executive agency to review and 
evaluate its systems of management and accounting controls in 
order to enhance the integrity and effectiveness of Government op
erations. In its first report under FMFIA in 1983, and for each year 
thereafter, the Department of the Interior has reported serious, 
longstanding financial management problems at BIA. In fact, in its 
1990 FMFIA report, the Department of the Interior characterized 
the entire Bureau as a material internal control weakness.39 

In its most recent FMFIA report, the Department again cited the 
BIA for inadequate management of trust funds: 

The Bureau's management of Individual Indian Monies 
(IIM) and Tribal trust funds is inadequate to properly
maintain and administer the $2 billion fund for which it 
has responsibility. The BIA's management of Tribal and 
Individual Indian Trust Funds lacks effective manage
ment/internal controls, reliable systems, and management 
information. Tribal and individual accounts lack credibil
ity and have never been reconciled in the entire history of 
the trust fund.40 

Despite its candor in outlining the complete absence of effective fi
nancial management and control at the BIA, the FMFIA report 
supplies little evidence that the Bureau has actively pursued cor
rective actions of previously identified material internal control 
weaknesses. In its December 17, 1990, audit report,41 the Office of 
Inspector General [OIG] raised serious concerns about the Bureau 
of Indian Affairs' compliance with the act. The OIG evaluated ac
tions taken by the Bureau: (1) To correct previously reported mate-
rial internal control weaknesses; (2) to assess component risk; and 

38 31 U.S.C. §§ 1105, 1113, Public Law 97-452, 96 Stat. 2467. 
39 Letter of the Secretary of the Interior to the President, Dec. 12, 1990, at 4. See also: Inspec

tor general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Bureau of Indian Affairs Compliance With the 
Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act of 1982 for Fiscal Year 1990," Report No. 91-I-220, 
Dec. 20, 1990, at 4, 6, 9, and 11. 

40 The Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act, "Secretary's Annual Statement and Report 
to the President and the Congress," U.S. Department of the Interior, Dec. 13, 1991, at D-3.

41 Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Final Audit Report on the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs Compliance With the Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act of 1982 for 
Fiscal Year 1990," Report No. 91-I-220, Dec. 17, 1990. 

54-438 - 92 - 2
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(3) to document actions to correct weaknesses identified by current 
control evaluations. The OIG found that: 

* * * the management control evaluation process imple
mented by the Bureau did not fully comply with the re
quirements of the Act. Specifically, we found that the 
Bureau had not effectively corrected 11 previously report
ed weaknesses that were deleted from its corrective action 
tracking system, updated the component inventory, con
ducted adequate risk assessments, conducted evaluations 
or tests in accordance with guidelines, and maintained an 
effective tracking system to verify that corrective actions 
were completed. Accordingly, there was no assurance that 
all weaknesses were identified or that control systems 
were operating as intended.42 

The most recent FMFIA report provides little evidence that actions 
completed in 1991 corrected previously identified material internal 
control weaknesses and the planned action cited in the report for 
1992 would not correct all of the fundamental control weaknesses, 
which include longstanding financial management deficiencies.43 

In 1983, the accounting firm of Price Waterhouse reported to 
BIA that its accounting systems and control procedures were inad-
equate.44 Among the deficiencies noted, Price Waterhouse found 
that: 

Many control systems lack clear assignment of responsi
bility or are not properly assigned. For example, control to 
assure that reconciliations between agency and accounting 
system records are performed and that [unreconciled] 

42 Id. at memorandum, 4, 9, 11, and 12.
43 Supra at D-3 and D-4. The FMFIA report identifies six corrective actions completed during

1991: (1) Established investment oversight advisory committee that includes tribal accountowner 
representatives; (2) developed custodial position for physical securities and collection of invest
ment income; (3) established and staffed managerial positions and organizational units for trust 
fund management; (4) requested OIG to certify that reconciliation procedures are sufficient to 
comply with Appropriations Committees [sic] requirements; (5) collected and identified all avail-
able records for three agencies and reconciled IIM accounts; and (6) requested OIG to certify
that the audit plan meets the requirements of the Appropriations Committees [sic]. 

One of these accomplishments [No. 5 above] appears to be overstated: Arthur Andersen has 
completed a full-scale reconciliation for fiscal year 1990 transactions at the Olympic Peninsula 
Agency only; no other IIM accounts had been reconciled, See: Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau 
of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 
15-16, 19, 20, and 21 (document available in subcommittee offices). 

None of the tasks identified in the FMFIA report addresses the previously reported material 
internal control weaknesses including the following longstanding deficiencies: (1) Inadequate 
systems for accounting for and reporting trust fund balances; (2) Inadequate controls over re
ceipts and disbursements; (3) Absence of periodic, timely reconciliations to assure accuracy of 
accounts; (4) Inability to determine accurate cash balances; (5) Inability to prepare and supply
accountholders with meaningful periodic statements of their account balances; and (6) Absence 
of consistent, written policies and procedures for trust fund management and accounting. 

Establishment of an investment oversight advisory committee could prove helpful for future 
investment activity, but its establishment will not correct greater investment difficulties identi
fied by Price Waterhouse, the American Indian Policy Review Committee, the OIG, GAO, 
Arthur Andersen, and others. The two personnel initiatives could prove helpful, but longstand
ing staffing, supervision, and training problems remain. 

For 1992, the FMFIA report promises to: "establish/implement automated system enhance
ments for Bureau's investment and IIM systems." Meanwhile, development of a new accounting 
system (the single most important previously reported material internal control weakness which 
is one of the Bureau's paramount needs according to GAO, OIG, and independent public ac
countants) is not scheduled for completion until October 1993. 

"Price Waterhouse, "Task IV: Cash Management, Accounting System and Control-Related 
Issues," Dec. 29, 1983, at II-20. Price Waterhouse was retained by the Bureau to complete an in-
depth review of the Bureau's financial management of the Indian trust fund. 
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items are identified and corrected on a timely basis has 
not been clearly defined. 

The Arthur Andersen & Co.'s fiscal year 1988 and 1989 financial 
audits of the trust funds confirmed the historic weaknesses of 
BIA's accounting controls. Indeed, those reports found that the "ac
counting systems and internal control procedures utilized by the 
Bureau suffer from a wide variety of procedural weaknesses and 
other problems * * * some of these weaknesses are so pervasive 
and fundamental as to render the accounting systems unreli
able." 45 As a result of these problems, Arthur Andersen was 
unable to confirm cash balances for individual or tribal accounts, 
highlighted major inadequacies in accounting records and related 
systems, and found numerous accounting errors during its audit. 
Moreover, the report identified 16 material accounting system and 
internal control weaknesses that Arthur Andersen & Co. said re
quired immediate attention. 

In 1989, in response to the long-term nature of BIA's mismanage
ment of the Indian trust fund and BIA's other persistent manage
ment failures and deficiencies, the President's Office of Manage
ment and Budget [OMB] identified BIA as a "high-risk" agency re
quiring priority attention.46 At that time, OMB directed the BIA to 
prepare a strategic plan for corrective action on these problems.47 

At the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, oversight hearing, the Assist-
ant Secretary of the Interior for Indian Affairs confirmed that the 
Bureau had not complied with the OMB directive. The President's 
budget for fiscal year 1993 expressed "reservations about the ade
quacy of progress and/or plans." 48 The President's fiscal year 1993 
budget proposal requests an additional 40 full-time employees for 
the Office of Trust Management and an additional appropriation of 
$5 million "to enhance management oversight, improve accounting 
and investment services and establish a cadre of systems experts to 
work on identified long range improvements to trust fund oper
ations, systems and clientele services.49 

IV. COMMITTEE INVESTIGATION 

In the spring of 1989, the Environment, Energy and Natural Re-
sources Subcommittee initiated an investigation of problems associ
ated with the Bureau of Indian Affairs' management of the Indian 
trust fund. 

45 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Financial Statements as of Sept. 30, 1989 and 1988, together with 
Report of Independent Public Accountants," May 11, 1990, at 8. Arthur Andersen & Co. was 
retained by the Bureau to conduct an audit of trust fund financial statements as of Sept. 30, 
1988, and Sept. 30, 1990. See description of Arthur Andersen's scope of engagement in Oct. 26, 
1989, hearing at 152. 

46 Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1992, 102d Congress, 1st session, Feb. 
4, 1991, House Document 102-3, part 2, at 306; Letter from the Secretary of the Interior to the 
President, Dec. 21, 1989, Secretary's Annual Statement and Report, Federal Managers' Finan
cial Integrity Act. 

47 Letter from the Secretary of the Interior to the President, Dec. 21, 1989, Secretary's Annual 
Statement and Report, Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act; Office of Management and 
Budget, "High Risk Areas Requiring Priority Attention" [title], November 1989, all agencies re
quired to prepare and submit strategic plan to correct identified weaknesses. 

48 "Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1993," Jan. 29, 1992, part 1, at 334, 
345; President's "progress report" described the status of BIA's efforts to correct high risk mis
management of the Indian trust fund. 

49 U.S. Department of the Interior, "Justification for Appropriations, Fiscal Year 1993," Febru
ary 1992. 
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The investigation was prompted by frustration over BIA's failure 
to adequately respond to previous committee reviews and recom
mendations for corrective action, and by large number of com
plaints about the Bureau's efforts to procure financial management 
services for management and administration of the Indian trust 
fund. The subcommittee was assisted in the investigation by the 
General Accounting Office [GAO]. 

The purpose of the subcommittee investigation was to review and 
evaluate the Bureau's efforts to correct chronic management defi
ciencies that have plagued the trust fund program as well as its ef
forts to implement repeated congressional directives designed to 
provide a full and accurate accounting of the individual Indian and 
tribal account funds. 

During the Subcommittee's inquiry, the Subcommittee staff and 
GAO collected and reviewed extensive data and interviewed nu
merous Bureau and Department of the Interior headquarters, re
gional, area, and agency officials and employees.50 

During the course of the investigation, the Subcommittee held 
public hearings on October 26, 1989, April 24, 1990, September 25, 
1990, and May 20, 1991,in Washington, DC, and received testimony
from the following witnesses: 

(1) Hon. Eddie F. Brown, Assistant Secretary of Indian Af
fairs, U.S. Department of the Interior, accompanied by Walter 
Mills, Deputy, Operations; Linda Richardson, Assistant Direc
tor for Administration, Financial Management; William P. 

50 During the Subcommittee's investigation, Subcommittee staff interviewed officials repre
senting the following locations: Bureau of Indian Affairs: Washington, D.C.; Anadarko Agency
Office; Albuquerque, New Mexico, Western Headquarters; Fort Peck Agency Office, Uintah & 
Ouray Agency Office, Olympic Peninsula Agency Office. Office of Inspector General: Washing-
ton, D.C. Office of the Solicitor: Washington, D.C. 

During the Subcommittee's investigation, the General Accounting Office collected and re-
viewed data and interviewed the following personnel: Department of the Interior, Washington, 
DC: David Moran, Office of Solicitor, attorney for BIA Indian issues and Jerry Feily, Office of 
Inspector General, auditor BIA reviews. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Headquarters, Washington, 
DC: William Bettenberg, Deputy Assistant Secretary; Linda Richardson, Budget Director; Tom 
Thompson, Special Assistant to the Deputy Assistant Secretary; Dave Matheson, Deputy Com
missioner; Antony Howard, Chief, Division of Contracting and Grants Administration; Peter 
Markey, Contracting Officer; Sam Adams, Division of Personnel Management; Ronal Eden, 
former Acting Assistant Secretary; Steve Gleason, former Special Assistant to the Assistant Sec
retary; Stan Speaks, former Acting Deputy Commissioner; Walter Mills, Former Deputy to the 
Assistant Secretary; Betty Wilkinson, former Chief, Division of Accounting Management; Arlene 
Brown, former Project Manager for the Trust Fund's Security Pacific National Bank contract. 
Bureau of Indian Affairs, Western Area Headquarters, Albuquerque, N.M., Office of Trust 
Funds Management: Jim Parris, Director; Don Gray, project leader, Trust Fund Reconciliation 
Project; Barton Wright, staff member, Trust Fund Reconciliation Project; Joe Weller, staff 
member, Trust Fund Reconciliation Project; Sara Yepa, section chief, Tribal Trust Fund Ac
counting; Kathleen Ramerez, acting section chief, IIM Accounts; George Gover, former Acting
Director. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Western Area Headquarters, Division of Accounting Manage
ment: Rodney Young, former Division Chief; Terry Garrett, project leader, Financial Manage
ment Improvement Program. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Uintah and Ouray Agency Office: Violet 
Schildt, Uintah & Ouray administrative officer; Sylvia Carter, personnel assistant and acting
IIM supervisor; Kathy Appawoo, IIM clerk; Carlean Kurip, IIM clerk (temporary); Sharon No
vanick, IIM clerk (temporary); Shanna Wopsock, IIM clerk (temporary); Roland McCook, super-
visor, Real Property Management; Diane Mitchell, Oil and Gas Section, clerk. Bureau of Indian 
Affairs, Fort Peck Agency Office: Jay Daniels, realty specialist and IIM reconciliation project 
coordinator. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Olympic Peninsula Agency Office: Barbara Fairchild, 
Indian self-determination specialist. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Portland Area Office, Portland 
Oregon: Petra Hatch, assistant area financial officer. Bureau of Indian Affairs, Office of Data 
Systems: Jim Roubidoux, Director, National Technical Service Center; Dave Henderson, Branch 
Chief, Applications Support Branch. Office of Management and Budget, Washington, DC: Kath
leen Turco, Financial Management Division, management examiner; Ron Cogswell, Financial 
Management Division, Interior branch; Frank Stedman, Financial Management Division, Interi
or branch; Bob Tuccillo, Budget Division, budget examiner; Rich Kodl, program evaluation and 
economic development specialist. 
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Ragsdale, Acting Assistant Secretary; Ron Crammer, contract
ing officer; Betty Wilkinson, Division Chief, Accounting Man
agement; Arlene Brown, trust fund contract project leader; 
Joseph Weller, Chief, Division of Trust Fund Management; 
Fred Kellerup, investments officer; George T. Skibine, attor
ney, Division of Indian Affairs, Solicitor's Office; Jim Parris, 
Chief, Branch of Trust Fund Accounting; and George Gover, 
implementation manager, Office of Trust Fund Management; 

(2) Lou Gallegos, Assistant Secretary for Policy, Management 
and Budget, U.S. Department of the Interior; 

(3) James R. Richards, inspector general, U.S. Department of 
the Interior; 

(4) Robert Hunter, Associate General Counsel, Office of the 
General Counsel, U.S. General Accounting Office; accompanied 
by Alan Belkin, and John Carter, senior attorneys; and Jerrold 
D. Cohen, Assistant General Counsel; 

(5) Jeffrey C. Steinhoff, Director, Civil Audits, Accounting 
and Financial Management Division, U.S. General Accounting 
Office, accompanied by Gayle Condon, Assistant Director; 
Robert Wagner, audit manager; Tom Armstrong, Office of Gen
eral Counsel; 

(6) George E. Tallchief, principal chief, Osage Tribe of Okla
homa Indians, and president, National Tribal Chairmen's Asso
ciation, accompanied by Clarence W. Skye, executive director, 
United Sioux Tribes of South Dakota Development Corp.; 

(7) Jo Lynn Gentry, Navajo Nation, policy specialist, First 
Nations financial management project, accompanied by Mar
cella Giles, Creek Tribe, research director; 

(8) Elouise Cobell, controller, Blackfeet Nation, representing 
the Ad Hoc Tribal Advisory Committee on BIA Trust Fund 
Management, accompanied by Mary Ann Antone, legislative 
counsel member, Tohono O'Odham Nation; Sue Lara, control
ler for the Jicarilla Apache Tribe; Lonnie Points, certified 
public accountant, Bland, Batesman & Associates, Turtle 
Mountain Tribe; D. Michael Petersen, certified public account-
ant, financial management specialist for the Red Lake Band of 
Chippewa Indians; and Dan Press, of counsel, Van Ness, Feld
man & Curtis; and 

(9) Tanya Parker, First Nations financial project. 
Representative Sidney R. Yates (D-IL), chairman, House Subcom

mittee on Interior Appropriations, submitted testimony for the 
record. 

Although the subcommittee's investigation identified some limit
ed effort to improve BIA's management of the Indian trust fund, 
clearly a great number of serious problems continue to exist. These 
problems were explored in-depth at the subcommittee's four hear
ings and are discussed in the following sections. 

A. BIA'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH CONGRESSIONAL DIRECTIVES 

Historically, BIA has performed virtually all trust management 
functions in-house. These functions include the receipt, control, in-
vestment, and disbursement of trust funds. 
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As noted earlier, scores of reviews of the Bureau's management 
since 1982 confirm that BIA's financial management system has 
failed to provide adequate accounting and other information 
needed for proper control over the trust fund investment program. 
For example, the Bureau does not—and cannot—conduct periodic 
or timely reconciliations of the approximately 300,000 accounts in 
the Indian trust fund to assure they are accurate. The Bureau does 
not—and cannot—provide accountholders with accurate periodic 
statements of account balances. These deficiencies have been exac
erbated by the fact there has been virtually no oversight of trust 
fund administration from BIA headquarters.51 

The following exchange between Chairman Synar and Depart
ment of the Interior Inspector General James R. Richards during
the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, hearing illustrates the dilemma 
of dealing with these BIA problems: 

Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Richards, what is Congress to do [about 
these continuing problems]? 

Mr. RICHARDS. I am not a Congressman and I am not 
Chairman of the Subcommittee, but I would be tearing my
hair out, I think. 

Mr. SYNAR. The Subcommittee is holding its fourth hear
ing since October of 1989, on the Bureau's mismanagement 
of the Indian Trust Fund. I know you are well aware we 
have worked hard and long to force the Bureau to clean 
up its act. 

After all this time and inaction by BIA, are you con
vinced that the Bureau is truly receptive to doing the 
things that must be done to get this house in order? 

Mr. RICHARDS. I think it is. Let me tell you why I say
that. The Bureau is a multifaceted monster. It is an orga
nizational nightmare. 

Mr. SYNAR. That may be the understatement of the 
year. 

Mr. RICHARDS. I have been familiar with the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs and Indian programs for 30 years, having 
grown up in the West and worked for a Western Senator 
and worked with the Department of Interior. 

I think the Bureau of Indian Affairs will not change 
until there is some political consensus in that it must 
change. It is the favorite * * * target of everyone who is 
shocked by its ineptitude and its insensitivity. 

Yet, when we try to restructure it either from a Con
gressional sense or from an Executive Branch sense, there 
are always naysayers and there never develops a political 
sense for positive change. 

Mr. SYNAR. But there is political consensus that we 
[must] have a basic accounting for the tribes and individ
uals? 

Mr. RICHARDS. NO question about that. 
Mr. SYNAR. You don't need change to do that? 

51 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 42. 
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Mr. RICHARDS. NO question about that. The BIA is a 
tinder box simply waiting for a spark.52 

Despite decades of criticism about these manifest management 
deficiencies, the BIA has failed to take adequate measures to cor
rect its shortcomings or to implement the advice of its own experts. 
For example, a 1984 Price Waterhouse report on trust fund oper
ations recommended that the BIA: (1) Define responsibilities of 
trust fund financial management officials; (2) prepare an up-to-date 
policy and procedures manual for the central office and agency of
fices; (3) segregate the tasks of investment and management and 
security custody; (4) establish an on-going audit function; (5) imple
ment a single trust accounting system; (6) implement an improved 
system for tracking expected income; (7) implement a deposit re-
porting service; (8) modify cash deposit procedures by establishing 
more local depositories; establishing fund concentration accounts in 
a major commercial bank; and, using a balance reporting service 
with a major commercial bank; and (9) consider a shift of BIA dis
bursement activities to a commercial bank.53 

That Price Waterhouse report, more than any other, gave upper 
level BIA management the basis for considering a financial serv
ices contract with a major commercial bank. Ironically, few of the 
Price Waterhouse recommendations have actually been implement
ed by the BIA. Instead of correcting its own management and ac
counting problems, BIA seized upon the Price Waterhouse recom
mendations—particularly establishing fund concentration accounts 
in a major commercial bank; using a balance reporting service with 
a major commercial bank; and, shifting BIA disbursement activi
ties to a commercial bank—as justification for attempting to pri
vatize financial management of the Indian trust funds. Between 
1987 and 1989, the Bureau of Indian Affairs spent enormous 
amounts of time, energy, and taxpayer money attempting—inap
propriately and unsuccessfully—to transfer the Indian trust fund 
financial management to the private sector. 

The attraction of privatization among Bureau headquarters per
sonnel was heightened by a report issued by Arthur Andersen in 
December 1985, summarizing responses from private industry
(banks, investment and accounting firms) to a Bureau request for 
information [RFI].54 When more than 100 responses came in from 
the RFI, it reinforced the Bureau managers' belief that there was 
significant private sector interest in the BIA trust fund program. 
Further, the Bureau's managers assumed that there were account
ing and management systems—hardware and software—already
available on the market to meet BIA's highly specialized needs. 
With respect to the Security Pacific National Bank contract, dis
cussed in detail below, both of these assumptions were proven 
wrong.55 

These assumptions about the private sector supported the al
ready strong belief by then-Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs 

52 May 20, 1991, hearing at 82. 
53 Price Waterhouse "In-Depth Review of the Indian Trust Funds for the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs, Task V Recommendations," Jan. 11, 1984, at 5.
54 Federal Register notice, Apr.15, 1987.

55 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 13-15, Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 62-63. 
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Ross Swimmer that privatization of financial management was the 
answer to most of the Bureau's longstanding trust fund problems. 
Swimmer's plan called for a commercial bank to take over the 
processing of cash receipts, through the use of lockbox services and 
to use an accounts receivable system 56 for trust income that would 
feed the lockboxes, and disbursements, investment and trust ac
counting for the trust fund. In September 1986, BIA awarded a con-
tract for these services to Mellon Bank of Pittsburgh, PA. 

Many tribes and beneficiaries objected to the Mellon Bank con-
tract, because tribal representatives were not consulted in the de
velopment of the contract.57 Moreover, the banking and investment 
community objected to the lack of open competition for the con-
tract (only six banks with lockbox contracts already in place with 
the Treasury were even allowed to bid). Finally, serious legal ques
tions were raised about the Bureau's authority to delegate inher
ently governmental functions such as collection, disbursement, and 
investment to a third party, and over certain privacy act require-
ments.58 As a result of these questions and concerns, in April 1987, 
the Mellon Bank agreement was terminated. 

Concerned that the Bureau's efforts to execute a financial serv
ices contract with a private commercial bank might result in the 
BIA merely passing off a set of unbalanced books to another party, 
Congress added a proviso to the fiscal year 1987 Supplemental Ap
propriations Act prohibiting the Bureau from transferring funds 
under contract to any private institution until Indian trust fund ac
counts were audited and reconciled. Subsequently, the fiscal year 
1988 Interior and related agencies appropriations conference report 
included language that prohibited BIA from contracting out trust 
fund services until an accounting of the funds had been provided to 
the tribe(s) involved, the proposed contractual agreements had been 
submitted to and approved by the appropriations committees, and 
the Bureau had adequately consulted with the affected tribes. 

Indeed, the 1987 Supplemental Appropriations Act conference 
report contained only the first of six successive congressional direc
tives regarding the BIA's responsibility to audit and reconcile all 
Indian trust fund accounts: 

* * * none of the funds in this Act shall be used by the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs to transfer funds under a con-
tract with any third party for the management of tribal or 
individual Indian trust funds until the funds held in trust 
for such tribe or individual have been audited and recon
ciled, and the tribe or individual has been provided with 
an accounting of such funds, and the appropriate commit-
tees of Congress and the tribes have been consulted with 
as to the terms of the proposed contract or agreement.59 

56 Under the original contract, the accounts receivable system was to be developed later by BIA. 
57 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 49 to 51. 
58 Statement of George Tallchief, principal chief of the Osage Tribe and president of the Na

tional Tribal Chairmen's Association, Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 47-52; See also: additional infor
mation supplied for the record, Oct. 26, 1989, at 91-94

59 Public Law 100-202, Dec. 22, 1987. See also: Public Law 100-446, Sept. 27, 1988, House 
Report 100-862 (conference committee). Public Law 101-121, Oct. 23, 1989, House Report 101-121 
(conference committee). Public Law 101-512, Nov. 5, 1990, House Report 101-789 (conference 
committee). Public law 102-154, Nov. 13, 1991, House Report 102-256 (conference committee). 
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In short, each of these directives clearly specified that Congress 
fully intended to direct the Bureau to reconcile and audit all 
Indian trust fund accounts prior to any transfer to a third party. In 
this respect, it is important to note that the BIA's efforts to privat
ize the financial management of the Indian trust fund were specifi
cally designed to transfer these funds to a third party even though 
the Bureau was making no effort whatsoever to begin—much less 
complete—the auditing and reconciliation process repeatedly di
rected by Congress. 

At the subcommittee's first oversight hearing on October 26, 
1989, Chairman Synar asked the BIA whether it had complied with 
the three separate congressional directives to audit and reconcile 
Indian trust fund accounts enacted up to that point: 

Mr. SYNAR. My question to you is * * * did the Bureau 
of Indian Affairs comply with * * * [those] Congressional 
directives? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. Mr. Chairman, let me state what we 
are currently doing and then we can back up, if you would 
like. * * * 

Mr. SYNAR. NO, I need an answer to that question. Did 
you comply with those directives? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. Okay. Let me refer to Mr. Walt Mills, 
who has a little longer historical [knowledge] as to what 
took place specifically with those years. * * * 

Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Mills. 
Mr. MILLS. We have complied with the language to a 

point. There are some problems that we are having, that 
it's almost an impossibility for us to reconcile all of the ac
counts * * * but no funds have been transferred, and in 
that respect, we have complied with the language by not 
transferring any funds. * * * 

Mr. SYNAR. SO you did not comply with the directives, 
did you? 

Mr. MILLS. NO funds have been transferred * * * 
Mr. SYNAR. Did you audit and reconcile them, as re

quired by the directives? 
Mr. MILLS. NO, we have not at this time.60 

The position expressed by BIA officials is disingenuous, at best. 
For, as noted above, the BIA's effort to privatize the Indian trust 
fund was premised on an assumption that tribal and individual 
Indian accountholders' funds would be transferred to a third party
prior to audit and reconciliation—even though the Congress ex
pressly prohibited such transfer until after audit and reconcilia
tion. Accordingly, the Bureau's suggestion that it had complied 
with the congressional directives "to a point," (that is, that it had 
not yet actually transferred any funds) is, at best, disingenuous. 

The BIA contracted with Arthur Andersen & Company to pre-
pare a report on an audit of the trust funds managed by the BIA 
during the year ending September 30, 1988.61 And, for a time, the 

60 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing, at 150. 
61 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Tribal and Individual Indian Monies Trust Funds, Report of Inde

pendent Auditors," Financial statements as of Sept. 30, 1989, and 1988; May 11, 1990. 
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Bureau tried to pass off its arrangement with Arthur Andersen as 
a full audit and reconciliation as required by law. However, Arthur 
Andersen informed the subcommittee and the BIA that its work 
was not intended to meet the audit and reconciliation requirements 
of the congressional directives. Rather, its work was an "audit of 
the trust funds (not each of the individual accounts with the funds) 
and did not result in verification of each individual transaction in 
each of the approximately 300,000 trust accounts managed by the 
BIA" as contemplated by Congress. Moreover, the firm's 1988 
report noted that "this was the first known financial audit by inde
pendent public accountants of the Tribal and Individual Indian 
Monies [IIM] Trust Funds managed by the Bureau, and the scope 
of [Arthur Andersen's] engagement was not sufficient with respect 
to financial statements for preceding periods (from inception 
through September 30, 1987) to enable us to determine the proprie
ty of trust fund balances resulting from prior activity * * * This 
scope limitation is a direct result of the BIA not having audits con
ducted in periods prior to the year ended September 30, 1988." 62 

Nevertheless, BIA chose to interpret Arthur Andersen's 1988 
report as confirmation of the notion that compliance with the con
gressional directives was simply "impossible." Chairman Synar 
pursued this argument in the following exchanges at the subcom
mittee October 26, 1989, oversight hearing: 

Mr. SYNAR. The Subcommittee has been in contact with 
Arthur Andersen & Company * * * This is a letter from 
Arthur Andersen & Company to the subcommittee. [Exhib
it introduced into record.] 63 It states that Arthur Ander
sen did not advise the BIA that it was impossible to audit 
and reconcile the accounts. Rather, [they] told us that such 
a task could not be accomplished looking at one year's 
transactions, which is what Arthur Andersen did. The 
Arthur Andersen audit was not intended to meet the re
quirements of the Congressional directive. 

Now, in light of this, Mr. Mills, can you explain why the 
BIA has refused to undertake this [audit and reconcilia
tion] effort, they say it is not impossible. * * * 

Mr. MILLS. We feel like it's not impossible. There are 
some accounts that we feel cannot be reconciled because of 
the records. At this particular time, we do not know what 
the scope of the work would be to audit and reconcile all 
288,000 accounts. That is what we are trying to get a 
handle on as far as what resources and how long that 
would take. 

Mr. SYNAR. Did you tell the Appropriations Committee 
this year that to accomplish this task was impossible? 

Ms. LINDA RICHARDSON.64 Mr. Chairman, we have on sev
eral occasions told the Appropriation Committee that we 
believed it would be impossible to audit all accounts, yes, 
sir.65 

62 Id. at 8. 
63 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing, at 151, exhibit 1, letter to Chairman Synar from Raymond E. Ziler, 

dated Oct. 2, 1989. 
64 Director, Bureau of Indian Affairs' Office of Administration.
65 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 159. 
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At the close of the subcommittee's October 26, 1989, hearing
Chairman Synar sought a promise from Dr. Eddie Brown, Assistant 
Secretary of the Interior for Indian Affairs, that the BIA would 
undertake immediate efforts to comply with congressional directives 
to audit and reconcile all Indian trust fund accounts. 

Mr. SYNAR. * * * I have one question and one question 
only, that I have your commitment and your promise that 
we are not going to move one penny [to a commercial 
bank] until these accounts are reconciled and audited; is 
that your promise to me today? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. My promise to you today is that we 
will abide by the language that's in the appropriation and 
that we will move forward with the Committee. 

Mr. SYNAR. That is not what I asked you, because [your]
interpretation of that language is not the same as Con
gress'. I'm asking you again, do you promise me that you 
will not move one penny of [trust fund] money until those 
accounts are reconciled and audited? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. I think the language—and it's impor
tant that I be here, because I'm not going to give you my 
word on something I'm unclear about. I will give you my 
word on exactly what we agree on here today. The lan
guage leaves, appears to leave, some negotiation on how 
we can legitimately go about, in a realistic manner, and 
reconcile those accounts. We intend to propose a draft, to 
sit down with the Committee and work out an agreement 
on how we can do that. Yes, I am committed to do that 
and I am committed to carry out that and to ensure that it 
happens. 

Mr. SYNAR. Well, that's disappointing, Dr. Brown, be-
cause I'm going to tell you, speaking on behalf of myself 
and Mr. Yates 66 and four Congresses, it is our clear inten
tion—and let the Record show—it is our clear intention 
that these accounts will be reconciled and audited before 
there is any movement or transfer. If you interpret that 
any other way, or if your lawyers or your personnel do, 
you're interpreting it wrong. 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. If that is the case in meeting with 
the Committee, sir, then I will absolutely carry that out. 
Let there be no question about it.67 

Unfortunately, the BIA waited almost 6 months before taking 
any action to begin to implement the congressional audit and rec
onciliation directive. In fact, the BIA did not meet with any con
gressional representative on this matter until the Environment, 
Energy and Natural Resources Subcommittee staff insisted on such 
a meeting with BIA on March 12, 1990, almost 5 months after the 
October 26, 1989 hearing, as discussed with Dr. Brown during the 
subcommittee's April 24, 1990 hearing: 

66 Hon. Sidney R. Yates, chairman of the House Subcommittee on Interior Appropriations, 
submitted a statement for the record at the Oct. 26, 1989, hearing. That panel is responsible for 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs' annual appropriations. 

67 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 460-461. 
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Mr. SYNAR. You were wrong in not following the Con
gressional intent? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. AS I understand Congressional intent 
now, clearly I was. 

Mr. SYNAR. You were wrong. What assurances do we 
have that you are not going to be wrong again? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. The assurances, sir, that myself, as 
well as Secretary Lujan, have committed ourselves to sit 
down and to discuss, based on the interpretation, as well 
as our willingness to put right up front that we want 

Mr. SYNAR. But you didn't do that until after March 12, 
[1990], did you, Dr. Brown? Sit down with the Committees 
and staff? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. No, sir. We—let's see, that is right, 
sir. 

Mr. SYNAR. That is five months after our last meeting, 
isn't it, Dr. Brown? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. Yes, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. * * * Dr. Brown, on October 26, 1989, you 

personally promised, under oath, this subcommittee that 
the BIA would abide by that language [the Congressional 
directive] and that the BIA would work with the Commit-
tees to see it was implemented. Now what action did the 
BIA do to initiate, to keep these various Committees in-
formed? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. It is my understanding, sir that as we 
began to take a look at methods in which we could trans
fer those funds, that we contacted 

Mr. SYNAR. IS it not true that you did not contact the 
Committees until after March 12th, five months after the 
last hearing? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. In a formal contact, yes, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. That is correct. Isn't it a fact that the meet

ings with Congressional Committees were initiated by the 
Committees and not by the BIA? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. That is correct sir, we met with 
them.68 

BIA's annual appropriation for fiscal year 1990 again included 
language that prohibited transferring Indian trust funds until cer
tain conditions had been satisfied: 

Provided further, that none of the funds in this Act shall 
be used by the Bureau of Indian Affairs to transfer funds 
under contract with any third party for the management 
of tribal or individual Indian trust funds until the funds 
held in trust for such tribe or individual have been audited 
and reconciled to the earliest possible date, the results of 
such reconciliation have been certified by an independent 
party as the most complete reconciliation of such funds 
possible, and the tribe or individual has been provided 
with an accounting of such funds * * *69 

68 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 10-11. 
69 Interior and related agencies appropriations for fiscal year 1990, Public Law 101-121, Oct. 

23, 1989, House Report 101-120 (conference committee). 
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To prevent the BIA from passing off a set of unbalanced accounts 
to a third party, the fiscal year 1990 proviso further refined the 
congressional directive that no funds could be transferred unless 
and until all of these funds had been audited, reconciled and certi
fied. 

The subcommittee solicited and received an opinion by the Gen
eral Accounting Office concerning the requirement of the congres
sional directive regarding audit, reconciliation and certification of 
Indian trust fund accounts. In its March 20, 1990, opinion,70 GAO 
concluded that the BIA would not satisfy the statutory require
ments if the same contractor that audits and reconciles the ac
counts also certifies the reconciliation to be the most complete rec
onciliation possible. The GAO opinion emphasized that the statuto
ry language explicitly requires that an "independent party" certify
the results of the reconciliation. In fact, the very structure of the 
proviso makes it clear that Congress used the term "independent" 
to mean a party that is independent of whoever performed the ini
tial audit and reconciliation.71 To construe "independent" other-
wise would, in GAO's opinion, render largely meaningless the pur
pose of the requirement for a certification by an independent 
party. The GAO stated that Congress's evident purpose was to 
obtain, to the greatest extent possible, reliable baseline balances in 
the various accounts. Finally, GAO stated "Accordingly, unless and 
until a party independent of the party performing the initial audit 
and reconciliation certifies that the reconciliation is as complete as 
possible, no trust fund monies can be transferred to Security Pacif
ic [National Bank]."72 

At the subcommittee's September 25, 1990 oversight hearing, 
Chairman Synar asked Mr. Lou Gallegos, then-Assistant Secretary 
of the Interior for Policy, Management and Budget representing In
terior Secretary Manuel Lujan, Jr., how many of the approximate
ly 300,000 accounts within the Indian trust fund had actually been 
audited or reconciled during fiscal year 1990: Mr. Gallegos respond
ed: "* * * to my knowledge, none."73 In fact, the BIA still has not 
implemented the clear intent of these congressional directives.74 

After Chairman Synar noted that it had been more than 1,000 
days since Congress authorized and directed the Department of the 
Interior and the Bureau of Indian Affairs to audit and reconcile 
the Indian trust funds accounts, the following exchange took place: 

Mr. SYNAR. * * * When, Mr. Gallegos, will the 300,000 
trust accounts be audited, reconciled and certified? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, it would be my desire to 
give you a specific date. I do not have a confidence level at 
this time that I would be straightforward with you if I 

70 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 19.
71 U.S. General Accounting Office, opinion letter, B-236146.2, Mar. 20, 1990; exhibit 1, Apr. 24, 

1990, hearing at 19.
72 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 21. Security Pacific National Bank was awarded a financial service 

contract by BIA on Sept. 14, 1988.
73 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 81. 
74 Public Law 100-202, Dec. 22, 1987. See also: Public Law 100-446, Sept. 27, 1988, House 

Report 100-862 (conference committee). Public Law 101-121, Oct. 23, 1989, House Report 101-121 
(conference committee). Public Law 101-512, Nov. 5, 1990, House Report 101-789 (conference 
committee). Public Law 102-154, Nov. 13, 1991, House Report 102-256 (conference committee). 
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gave you a specific date. What we're engaged in here is de
veloping a process and a system to get at that. 

I have also suggested it is amongst the highest priorities 
of the Secretary of Interior to pursue this course of action, 
and we will. 

Mr. SYNAR. Let me ask you if you think current prior
ities are reasonable. Do you think it's reasonable to ask 
the beneficiaries of this trust fund, or the Congress, or the 
taxpayers, to wait 7 years for the BIA to complete this rec
onciliation process? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, it is my personal belief 
that none of what has occurred here over a long period of 
time—and certainly not just the last thousand days—but 
over a long period of time is totally unreasonable. 

Mr. SYNAR. Where do these efforts, Mr. Gallegos, rank 
in terms of the Department's priorities? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, I can state unequivocally
that these particular issues rank at the highest priority of 
the Department at this time. 

Mr. SYNAR. Well, that doesn't say much for the other 
priorities does it—if this one's failing and it's one of the 
highest. 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, it hasn't always been the 
highest. 

Mr. SYNAR. When did it get to be the highest? 
Mr. GALLEGOS. It has gotten to be the highest, I believe, 

within the last 2 or 3 months when we came to the realiza
tion 

Mr. SYNAR. It is like Mr. Clinger said in his opening 
statement that there's always a flurry of activity and high 
priority-setting every time this subcommittee schedules a 
hearing? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, no doubt that is true in 
the normal course if things, but I think beyond that we 
share with you the realization that it is totally unsatisfac
tory that these account holders, be they tribal or individ
uals, should wait much longer for a true accounting of 
what their real assets in this trust are.75 

In response to the subcommittee's persistent pressure to comply
with the congressional directives, the Bureau finally undertook ef
forts to begin a meaningful audit and reconciliation process. On 
December 28, 1990, 3 months after the subcommittee's third over-
sight hearing on this subject, the BIA issued a request for proposals 
[RFP] for phase I of the trust fund reconciliation project. Phase I 
was designed to cover 500 tribal accounts belonging to 37 of the 254 
tribes. BIA selected the larger tribal accounts for phase I, because 
they make up over 87 percent of the tribal trust fund balance. In 
addition, phase I will cover about 17,000 individual Indian accounts 
that make up over 17 percent of the individual Indian money trust 
funds balances. BIA selected IIM accounts that are maintained at 3 
of its 93 agency offices—Uintah and Ouray, Fort Peck, and Olym-

75 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 83-84. 



25 

pic Peninsula—because these accounts represent a cross-section of 
income types (that is, oil and gas royalties, timber, fishing, and 
land lease revenues) and because reconciliations of the last 3 years' 
transactions had been completed for most of these accounts, so that 
those results should serve as a useful starting point. 

On April 26, 1991, BIA requested best and final offers from six 
firms in response to that RFP. The contract for phase I was award
ed to Arthur Andersen & Co. on May 10, 1991. 

Phase II of the Bureau's reconciliation and auditing process was 
designed to cover the remaining 1,500 tribal and approximately 
283,000 IIM accounts. BIA intends to use the phase I results to de
velop its plans for moving this project into phase II. In fact, the 
phase I contract will require Arthur Andersen & Co. to develop a 
plan for BIA's consideration for conducting phase II.76 

The BIA budgeted about $2.3 million for phase I of the trust fund 
reconciliation project through the end of fiscal year 1992.77 At the 
subcommittee's May 20, 1991, hearing the subcommittee learned 
that completion of phase II, including certification of all trust fund 
balances by an independent third party, is not expected before 
fiscal year 1997,78 and that the overall project was estimated to cost 
$12 million over 5 years.79 The Department of the Interior's 1991 
Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act Report estimated that 
the audit and reconciliation effort could be completed by April 
1996.80 

However, the Subcommittee learned from October 23, 1991, and 
January 28, 1992, briefings by Arthur Andersen & Co. that the ac
counting firm has encountered substantial difficulties in complet
ing any IIM account phase I reconciliations. For example, Arthur 
Andersen estimated that audit of the 17,000 IIM trust accounts 
originally associated with phase I of the IIM trust reconciliation 
and audit project could cost as much as $12.6 million compared to 
the original estimate of $12 million for full audits of 37 larger 
tribal accounts and the IIM accounts at three agencies. According
ly, the company recommended that alternatives be considered.81 

76 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 9, 14, 20, 30, and 31 (document available in subcom
mittee offices). Arthur Andersen & Co. reported that the project had not yet reconciled all tribal 
accounts for fiscal year 1990 and had found that approximately 10 percent of the necessary 
source documents had not yet been located and that none of the 17,000 IIM accounts at three 
area offices in phase I had been audited and reconciled. As a result of these unanticipated diffi
culties completion of phases I and II would take longer and cost more. 

77 According to the Arthur Andersen, it had billed the BIA $1,775,576 through Jan. 15, 1992. 
See: Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 32 (document available in subcommittee offices). 

78 May 20, 1991, hearing at 126. 
79 Arthur Andersen & Co.'s 5-year, $12,046,505.94 bid for the audit and reconciliation project 

would be spread over 5 years as follows: Year 1: $1,322,080.34; year 2: $2,298,277.60; year 3: 
$2,431,645.60; year 4: $2,441,716.40; and year 5: $2,552,786.00. 

80 The Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act, "Secretary's Annual Statement and Report 
To The President And The Congress," U.S. Department of the Interior, Dec. 13, 1991, at D-3, D-
4, and D-5. 

81 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 9, 14, 20, 30, and 31 (document available in subcom
mittee offices). The subcommittee has reviewed Arthur Andersen's recommendations and is con
cerned by the enormity of its cost estimates to complete the IIM reconciliations. However, it is 
apparent that there may be alternatives. See also: U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial 
Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing a 
Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-38, March 1992. 
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At the rate of $12.6 million for three agencies, it might cost as 
much as $281 million to $390 million to audit the IIM accounts at all 
93 BIA agency offices. Obviously, it makes little sense to spend so 
much when there was only $440 million deposited in the IIM trust 
fund for account holders as of September 30, 1991.82 Given that cost 
and time have become formidable obstacles to completing a full 
and accurate accounting of the Indian trust fund, it may be neces
sary to review a range of sampling techniques and other alterna
tives before proceeding with a full accounting of all 300,000 ac
counts in the Indian trust fund. However, it remains imperative 
that as complete an audit and reconciliation as practicable must be 
undertaken. 

Another obstacle raised by Arthur Andersen and recently con-
firmed by the General Accounting Office concerns the accuracy of 
the Bureau's Indian land ownership records. Arthur Andersen is 
also required under its contract with BIA to reconcile BIA's finan
cial system to its integrated resources management system [IRMS]. 
As part of this reconstruction work, Arthur Andersen agreed to 
perform a very limited review of Indian allottee ownership records 
and found a number of potential discrepancies.83 These are not the 
first instance in which concerns about the accuracy of the BIA's 
land ownership records have been raised.84 For example, in a series 
of reports on lease administration completed by the inspector gen
eral of the Department during the 1980's,85 the OIG found in-
stances in which ownership records were not being properly updat
ed or the records contained inaccurate information. As a result, 
revenue distributions were being made to closed IIM estate ac
counts, lease payments were not being collected in a timely 
manner, and revenues were being posted to the wrong accounts. 
Moreover, GAO has advised the subcommittee that BIA's IRMS 
system, which includes land title and ownership information, cur
rently operates independently at six different BIA offices. In addi-

82 Id. at 20. 
83 Id. at 25 through 29. Arthur Andersen reviewed and recalculated selected allotment owner-

ship and lease distributions and noted several potential discrepancies. In addition, each of the 
three agency offices involved in phase I use a different procedure and source document to calcu
late revenue distributions to IIM accounts: Uintah and Ouray use the royalty distribution and 
reporting system [RDRS] and manual distributions from allotment cards; Fort Peck uses RDRS 
and IRMS lease records; and Olympic Peninsula uses manually updated title status reports 
[TSR]. See also: Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs Trust Funds Reconciliation 
Phase I Assessment Summary," Oct. 23, 1991, at 6 (document available at subcommittee office). 

84 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Indian Programs: Profile of Land Ownership at 12 Reser
vations," GAO/RCED-92-96BR, Feb. 10, 1992. "Trust Funds Managed By The U.S. Department 
of Interior Bureau of Indian Affairs—Area and Agency Office Specific Findings and Recommen
dations, as of Sept. 30, 1991," Mar. 15, 1991 "Draft," at 15, 20, 29, 38, 39, 44, 52, and 56. "Review 
of Indian Trust Fund Management, Task II: Documentation of Current Operations and Proce
dures," Sept. 26, 1983, "Draft Report," at II-3. Executive Resources Associates, Inc., Study of the 
BIA Trust Fund Services, "Draft Management Study," Nov. 24, 1987, at 3-4, 3-35, 3-36, and 4-5. 
Inspector general, Department of the Interior, "Review of Lease Administration of Indian Trust 
Lands: Billings Area Office, Bureau of Indian Affairs," Report No. C-I-BIA-47-84, July 1987. 
Inspector general, Department of the Interior, "Review of Individual Indian Money Accounts 
(IIM) Administered by the Bureau of Indian Affairs," (consolidated report), Mar. 31, 1986. In
spector general, Department of the Interior, "Review of Individual Indian Money Accounts (IIM)
Administered by the Bureau of Indian Affairs—Concho Agency," Report No. C-IA-BIA-22p-
84(b), July 1985. U.S. General Accounting Office, "Administration of Individual Indian Moneys 
Administered by the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Department of the Interior," GAO B-114868, 
Nov. 1955. 

85 Five audits from 1982, Inspector General Audit Report, Report No. 89-117, September 1989, 
appendix 2, at 24-25. 
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tion, BIA has not assigned a systems manager to be responsible for 
IRMS overall, so the problems remain unconnected.86 

The Intertribal Monitoring Association 87 [ITMA], among others, 
has also raised concerns about the accuracy of Bureau's ownership
records. ITMA and other critics recognize that if the land owner-
ship records are inaccurate or out of date, they can produce errors 
that can have a direct effect on revenue distributions to tribal and 
HM accountholders. Moreover, any account reconciliation that is 
not based on accurate ownership records for income distribution 
will be a waste of time and taxpayer money. 

The Arthur Andersen briefings pointed out problems that are 
similar to those in past audit findings reporting significant defi
ciencies in the accuracy and use of the Bureau's ownership records 
and undivided fractional interests 88 in real estate and income. Un
divided fractional interests have been a serious problem for the 
Bureau for years, but no corrective action has been taken. More-
over, these difficulties have been worsened as the number of IIM 
accounts has continued to grow steadily as account holders pass 
away and additional IIM accounts have been opened for their heirs. 
The GAO recognized the problems presented by the explosive 
growth of undivided fractional interests in its 1955 audit of BIA's 
administration of IIM accounts,89 noting that while BIA maintains 
IIM accounts for successive rounds of heirs, the income stream ac
tually distributed often becomes relatively small (as revenues are 
spread to more and more accounts with each succeeding genera
tion). In its 1955 audit report, GAO recommended a number of so
lutions to solve this problem including, eliminating BIA involve
ment in income distribution by requiring lessees to make payments 
directly to Indian lessors, allowing BIA to transfer maintenance of 
IIM accounts to private commercial banks, or imposing a fee for 
BIA services to IIM accountholders.90 More recently, several tribes 
have expressed interest in establishing a system by which smaller 
fractional interests would escheat 91 to the tribes for the benefit of 

86 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992 (document available at subcommittee office).

87 To ensure effective consultation with the BIA, the tribes and IIM accountholders represent
atives established the Intertribal Monitoring Association [ITMA] on Indian trust funds to serve 
as a national tribal and allottee association membership organization. While the BIA should 
continue to consult other Indian organizations on a broad range of issues, the ITMA has served 
as the primary contact for monitoring, directing, and corresponding with BIA management over 
Indian trust fund financial management and reform efforts. 

88 Undivided fractional interests in real property refers to multiple owners sharing ownership 
of a tract of land without dividing the actual land among the owners. Undivided ownership in
terests in a parcel of land, royalty and rental collections and disbursements, and restricted lands 
constitute significant land consolidation problems for tribes and for the Indian trust fund. Con
gress has authorized the Secretary of the Interior to facilitate land consolidation activities and 
planning that promote fair value exchanges, 25 U.S.C § 2201 et seq., Public Law 97-459, 96 Stat. 
2517, for legislative history and purpose see: 1982 U.S. Code Cong, and Admin. News, at 4415. 
See also: U.S. General Accounting Office, "Indian Programs: Profile of Land Ownership at 12 
Reservations," GAO/RCED-92-96BR, Feb. 10, 1992, at 7. 

89 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Indian Programs: Profile of Land Ownership at 12 Reser
vations," GAO/RCED-92-96BR, Feb. 10, 1992. U.S. General Accounting Office, "Audit Report to 
the Congress of the United States, Administration of Individual Indian Moneys by Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, Department of the Interior," Report No. B-l 14868, November 1955 at 25-26.

90 Id. at 27. 
91 In 1983, the Congress enacted the Indian Land Consolidation Act, 25 U.S.C. 2201, et seq., 

Public Law 97-459, 96 Stat. 2517. One purpose of the act was to reduce extensive fractionation of 
individual Indian ownership. The act authorized any tribe to establish inheritance codes to 
govern the inheritance of real property and develop plans to consolidate the ownership of Indian 
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all. Other tribes have established corporate entities to acquire and 
consolidate fractional interests from heirs. 

Based on the recent findings of Arthur Andersen, information 
contained in previous audit reports, and the expressed concerns of 
the Inter-Tribal Monitoring Association, the committee believes it 
reasonable to be concerned about the accuracy of BIA's ownership
records.92 Today, BIA is spending a great deal of taxpayer money 93 

and other resources administering and maintaining tens of thou-
sands of minuscule ownership interests and maintaining thousands 
of IIM trust fund accounts with little or no activity, and with bal
ances less than $50. 

As previously noted by GAO, the Bureau currently records some 
fractionated ownership interests in reservation lands to the 42d 
decimal point.94 At the same time, Arthur Andersen found that the 
legal allotment ownership records of the Bureau are inconsistent 
with the records the BIA s Office of Trust Fund Management uses 
to calculate distributions of income and significant efforts are 
needed to bring the legal ownership records up to date.95 However, 
until additional work is completed to determine the magnitude of 
the land ownership problems and their impact on financial man
agement of the Indian trust fund, it is not clear what impact this 
deficiency may have for trust fund account holders. But, it is clear 
that the problems presented by land ownership information record
ing may have a significant impact on overall Indian trust fund fi
nancial management. Accordingly, these problems must be ad-
dressed carefully and thoroughly by the Bureau, tribes, and Con
gress in crafting a comprehensive reform package for the Indian 
trust fund. 

B. BIA'S FAILED ATTEMPT TO PRIVATIZE THE INDIAN TRUST FUND 

Over the past 10 years, longstanding and recurring problems and 
deficiencies in BIA s management of the Indian trust have been 
identified by the Department of the Interior's inspector general, 
the General Accounting Office,96 independent public accountants, 

land. The act also provided that, under certain conditions, an individual Indian ownership of 2 
percent or less in a tract would be transferred to the respective tribe upon an owner's death, 
instead of being transferred to the decedent's heirs. This transfer of property to the tribe is re
ferred to as "escheatment." 

92 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 19 and 25 (document available in subcommittee of
fices).

93 "Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1992," part IV, at 769, estimated 
that over $50 million would be spent on performance of trust fund responsibilities. According to 
the Department of the Interior's justification to support appropriations, fiscal year 1993, an ad
ditional 40 full employees are requested for the Office of Trust Management to "enhance man
agement oversight, improve accounting and investment services and establish a cadre of audit 
and systems experts to work on identified long-range improvements to trust fund operations, 
systems and clientele services at a cost of $2,260,000. 

94 That is, 0.000000000000000000000000000000000000000001. See also: U.S. General Accounting
Office: "Indian Programs: Profile of Land Ownership at 12 Reservations," GAO/RCED-92-96BR, 
Feb. 10, 1992, at 16, 20. One 320-acre tract at the Standing Rock reservation has 542 owners, 
including 531 individual Indians and 11 tribal or other owners. Five hundred and twenty-three 
of these Indian interests are 2 percent or less in the parcel. The land size equivalent of the 
smallest ownership interest in that tract is smaller than the dimensions of this page [0.35 
square feet or 7.1 inches by 7.1 inches].

95 Arthur Andersen & Co., "Bureau of Indian Affairs, Trust Funds Reconciliation Project 
Overview Presentation," Jan. 28, 1992, at 19, 25, and 26 (document available in subcommittee 
offices).

96 Statement of Jeffrey C. Steinhoff, U.S. General Accounting Office, Director of Civil Audits, 
Accounting and Financial Management Division, May 20, 1991, hearing at 6. 
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and congressional reviews. At the top of the list of those problems 
has been not only trust fund accounting, but the complete absence 
of any kind of financial accounting by the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs. 

After its 1987 retreat from the Mellon contract fiasco, BIA's goal 
appeared to be to get another privatization effort underway as soon 
as possible. Toward that end, a new request for proposals 97 was ad
vertised on February 18, 1988. However, only two bids were re
ceived. BIA concluded that the Security Pacific had submitted the 
best offer and it was awarded the contract.98 

At the same time as BIA was evaluating these bids, it was com
pleting an Office of Management and Budget A-76 cost comparison 
study.99 In July 1988, Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs Ross 
Swimmer wrote tribal leaders with the results of BIA's cost com
parison study stating that BIA had demonstrated that the cost 
studies supported another effort to privatize the financial manage
ment of the Indian Trust Fund.100 By September 18, 1988, BIA was 
claiming that its cost comparison studies showed that almost $3 
million could be saved over a 5-year period (about $550,000 per 
year) by using a private contractor for services to strengthen inter
nal management and administration of the Indian trust funds.101 

As result of the RFP, on September 14, 1988, BIA signed a 1-year 
contract, with four yearly options, valued between $15 million and 
$22 million overall, for services to strengthen internal management 
and administration of the Indian trust fund. The contractor, Secu
rity Pacific National Bank of Los Angeles was responsible for pro
viding financial services and its subcontractor, Computer Data Sys
tems, Inc. [CDSI], of Rockville, MD, was responsible for providing
accounting and computer services. 

According to the provisions of the contract, Security Pacific was 
required to meet a series of timeliness standards and performance 
milestones marking its progress toward completion of its responsi
bilities to the Government. In all, five tasks were identified in the 
contract: Systems analysis (3 months after award); investment serv
ices; collection and disbursement services (5 months); accounting
services fully operational (6 months); and, account conversion (6 
months).102 

However, the accounting system that the Bureau contracted for 
was never delivered or developed.103 In fact, Security Pacific's sub-
contractor, Computer Data Systems, could not even get its own 
computer system and software to operate properly during the ac
ceptance testing phase of the contract, which was originally sched-

97 Letter from then-Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs, Ross Swimmer, to tribal chairmen,
July 25, 1988, additional information supplied for the record by the Bureau of Indian Affairs,
Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 169 and 186. 

98 Statementof Robert Hunter, U.S. General Accounting Office, associate general counsel,
Office of General Counsel, Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 9, 10, 25, and 26.

99 Id. at 24.
100 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 186.
101 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 205-206. 
102Account conversion would have required the transfer of all tribal and IIM accounts to Se

curity Pacific National Bank. Even though, as discussed fully above, such transfer was expressly
prohibited by law unless and until all tribal and IIM accounts had been audited and reconciled 
and, at that time, BIA had no plans to audit or reconcile any accounts prior to transferring the 
assets to Security Pacific National Bank for account conversion. 

103 Numerous cites, see: Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 417, Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 13, Sept. 25,
1990, hearing at 62-63. 
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uled for the summer of 1989. In addition to failing to deliver the 
accounting system it was to develop for the Bureau, Security Pacif
ic National Bank failed to deliver any product or service required 
by the contract. Pressed by the subcommittee to name the delivera
bles 104 supplied by Security Pacific or its subcontractor, Computer 
Data Systems, the Bureau admitted that none of the five original 
tasks only a plan for conversion of the trust funds accounts have 
been delivered.105 

Despite its manifest failure to obtain the benefit of its bargain 
with Security Pacific, the Bureau failed to even demand that the 
contractor perform.106 Nevertheless, the Bureau continued to make 
progress payments to Security Pacific National Bank on invoices 
submitted monthly for undefined and unmeasured services.107 

The contract and contracting process failures had begun almost 
immediately. For example, during the contract evaluation process 
that preceded the award of the contract to Security Pacific, the bid
ders had been required to successfully perform an operational capa
bilities demonstration. The purpose of the demonstration was to 
provide bidders an opportunity to display the functionality, effi
ciency, and technical merit of the proposed system and services in 
meeting the mandatory requirements of the request for proposal. 
Security Pacific and the unsuccessful bidder were advised that, in 
addition to meeting the other mandatory requirements, the demon
stration was intended to illustrate specific capabilities of the pro-
posed software. The operational capabilities demonstration was not 
intended to serve as a basis for marketing presentations. Since only 
two bids were received, and one was considered inadequate, only
Security Pacific National Bank performed the operational capabili
ties demonstration. 

At the subcommittee's request, GAO performed an analysis of 
the operational capabilities demonstration performed by Security
Pacific National Bank and its subcontractor, Computer Data Serv
ices. GAO asked two questions about the demonstration: First, 
what was the substance of the operational capabilities demonstra
tion; and second, did the contractor's system clearly demonstrate 
the mandatory capabilities during the operational capabilities dem-
onstration.108 Results of GAO's analysis revealed that only 50 per-
cent of the tasks identified for testing during the operational capa
bilities demonstration were performed; a third of the tasks did not 
demonstrate what they were designed to show; and no criteria for 
evaluation were specified for 11 of 76 tasks completed. GAO also 
discovered that 14 irregularities were observed during the oper-

104Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 12, 13, and 25, see also: additional information supplied for the 
record at 26. 

105Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 23-24, 26. Account conversion would have required the transfer of 
all tribal and IIM accounts to Security Pacific National Bank. Even though, as discussed fully
above, such transfer that was expressly prohibited by law unless and until all tribal and IIM 
accounts had been audited and reconciled and, at that time, BIA had no plans to audit or recon
cile any accounts prior to transferring the assets to Security Pacific National Bank for account 
conversion. 

106 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 416-417, Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 62-63.
107Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 29. 
108 U.S. General Accounting Office, opinion letter, B-235644, Aug. 22, 1989. See also: State

ment of Robert Hunter, U.S. General Accounting Office, associate general counsel, Oct. 26, 1989, 
hearing at 9; and U.S. General Accounting Office, "Policy and Procedures Manual for Guidance 
of Federal Agencies," title 2, appendix III requirements, chapter 4. 
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ational capabilities demonstration. Considering the results of this 
demonstration of software performance and development, it is not 
surprising that Security Pacific's subcontractor, Computer Data 
Systems, was unable to deliver a software package for accounting
service for the trust fund. 

During the first 6 months of the contract, September 14, 1988, 
through March 30, 1989, Security Pacific National Bank was to de
velop and implement an investment system. Even though no con
tracted deliverables were supplied, Security Pacific National Bank 
was paid $330,000 for this segment of the contract. For reasons that 
BIA could not adequately explain under subcommittee questioning, 
no demand letter was sent to Security Pacific National Bank de
manding performance during this first 6-month segment or at any
other time.109 

During the next 6-month segment, April through October 1989, 
Security Pacific completed no tasks in fulfillment of the contract 
and provided no deliverables. During this time, the contract re
quired Security Pacific to provide maintenance and operation of 
the implemented accounting system, account custodial services for 
the individual Indian money accounts and tribal accounts, and in-
vestment services for BIA. The original cost for this segment of the 
contract was $300,000 for support services, $298,596 for custodial 
services, $720,000 for investment services, and $190,800 for other 
accounts for a total of $1,509,396. 

According to the subcommittee's review, the total cost of the first 
year for both segments of the Security Pacific National Bank con-
tract could have been $1,839,396, had the Security Pacific National 
Bank contract been fully implemented. According to BIA testimony 
at the subcommittee's April 24, 1990, hearing, the Security Pacific 
contract could have cost the BIA more than $3 million a year.110 

BIA eventually paid Security Pacific $934,512, but according to the 
Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs, did not obtain any benefits 
for the Government.111 While BIA continued to assert that some de
liverables were received, the testimony and evidence suggests that 
little of value resulted from this million-dollar expenditure.112 

Indeed, trying to pin down the BIA on matters pertaining to the 
Security Pacific National Bank contract was difficult for the sub-
committee. Consider this exchange between the ranking minority
member of the subcommittee and Mr. George Gover, then-Acting
Director of the Office of Trust Fund Management, on April 24, 
1990: 

Mr. CLINGER. What deliverables were to be provided by
Security Pacific National Bank under the original con-
tract? 

Mr. GOVER. The contract was to provide the collection, 
the accounting, investment and disbursement of trust 
funds. It was to provide a tribal and a trust fund manage
ment system, an integrated system for how we go about 
managing those funds. 

109 Oct. 26,1989, hearing at 417, and Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 63.

110 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 14.

111 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 24-27.

112 See for example: Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 417, and Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 63 and 69.
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Mr. CLINGER. When was that work to have been com
pleted under the original contract? 

Mr. GOVER. Under the original contract, within the first 
6 months. 

Mr. CLINGER. Was any of that accomplished? 
Mr. GOVER. NO sir * * * 

Mr. CLINGER. What was the cost for the original contract 
* * * 

Mr. GOVER. The original cost—the original payment was 
$330,000 for the first 6 months * * * 

• • • * • 

Mr. CLINGER. What did we get for that? 
Mr. GOVER. The $330,000 was for developmental cost 

paid to the contractor for the development of their base 
system. 

Mr. CLINGER. But basically we really didn't get anything
for that money, did we? 

Mr. GOVER. Nothing tangible because this is a service 
contract. Under a service contract, you don't receive any-
thing tangible. It is like—if I can use the expression, if you 
buy an airplane ticket from here to Los Angeles, you don't 
buy the plane, you just buy the ride. 

Mr. CLINGER. I think we got taken for a ride, but I am 
not sure that we [got anything else.] [Laughter.]113 

BIA's rationale for neglecting to demand full performance was that 
there was no need to send a letter because the requirements pack-
age for services to be performed under the contract were still being
developed by BIA.114 

BIA paid Security Pacific National Bank for the first 1-year 
period, even though few, if any, deliverables were provided; no in-
vestment system was implemented; the accounting services were 
not developed or in operation; no account custodial services were 
provided for the individual Indian money [IIM] accounts; and no 
support services were provided.115 

From September 14, 1988, until April 1990, there were continual 
problems and delays in developing, testing, and implementing the 
computerized accounting system being developed by Computer 
Data Services.116 The plan was to run the new system in parallel 
with the existing BIA systems to compare the outputs. If the re
sults of this operation were satisfactory, the system would be in-
stalled as the newly developed computerized accounting system. 
However, during the second day of acceptance testing of the auto-
mated accounting system, the subcontractor, Computer Data Serv
ices, requested that the acceptance test be terminated.117 Stated 
simply, Computer Data Services could not get its computer system 

113 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 14-5.

114 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 431.

115 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 62.

116 Oct. 26, 1990, hearing at 420-432, Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 13.

117 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 415-416.
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to do what they said it could—to provide accounting services sup-
port. 

As of April 24, 1990, Computer Data Services was unable to de
velop, test, and implement the computerized accounting services 
system for the Indian trust fund. Yet even at this late date, Securi
ty Pacific National Bank had not been put on notice for nonper
formance. Instead, BIA suspended the Security Pacific National 
Bank contract shortly before the subcommittee's April 24, 1990, 
hearing: 

Mr. SYNAR. During the last hearing, Dr. Brown, BIA wit
nesses indicated that no demand letters had been sent to 
the contractor for nonperformance because the Bureau 
was working closely with them to try to get the program 
up and running. 

Isn't it true, Dr. Brown, that one reason we haven't sent 
any demand letters is because 18 months after the con-
tract was awarded, the Bureau still * * * doesn't know 
what its final requirements are and that, in fact, the BIA 
was discussing provisions with Security Pacific as recently 
as late March [1990], just days before you put this whole 
contract on hold? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. That is correct, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. So even if you didn't have the constraints 

imposed by the appropriations requirement [transferring
funds to the contractor], Dr. Brown, in order to first audit 
and reconcile the accounts, you still wouldn't be ready to 
go, would you? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. At this point in time, it is my opin
ion—no sir. 

Mr. SYNAR. Isn't it true also, Dr. Brown, that if you 
hadn't put the contract on hold because of the auditing re
quirement, you would have probably had to make even 
further modifications to the contract? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. Yes, sir.118 

BIA finally terminated the Security Pacific contract on Septem
ber 30, 1990. However, the Bureau was hesitant to admit that it 
has failed: 

Mr. SYNAR. Did the Bureau get what it paid for in the 
$934,512, Mr. Gover? 

Mr. GOVER. According to the terms of the contract, yes. 
Mr. SYNAR. Excuse me? 
Mr. GOVER. According to the terms of the contract, we 

did get what we paid for? 
Mr. SYNAR. Did the Security Pacific [National Bank] im

plement the collection? 
Mr. GOVER. No, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. Accounting? 
Mr. GOVER. No sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. Investment, and disbursement services for 

the trust fund, or the tribal, or trust fund management? 

118 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 28. 
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Mr. GOVER. No, sir. 

* * * * * 
Mr. SYNAR. Isn't it true that the Bureau's A-76 report, 

which was prepared in compliance with the Office of Man
agement and Budget Contracting Policies, before the Secu
rity Pacific contract was executed, claimed that the 
Bureau would actually save money—more like $3 mil
lion—through this contract? 

Mr. GOVER. Yes, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. Has the Bureau reduced staff as result of 

the contract, Mr. Gover? 
Mr. GOVER. No, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. Would the Bureau ever have been able to 

reduce the staff as a result of this contract? 
Mr. GOVER. No, sir. 
Mr. SYNAR. Has the contract saved the Bureau anything, 

Mr. Gover? 
Mr. GOVER. Savings? No, sir.119 

In short, BIA wasted nearly $1 million of taxpayers' money pur
suing the Security Pacific National Bank contract for financial 
services. The BIA failed to exercise reasonable care in its adminis
tration of the contract. The BIA headquarters failed to provide ade
quate leadership and virtually no oversight supervision with regard 
to the Security Pacific National Bank contract. 

Despite clear evidence of its failures with respect to the Security
Pacific contract the Bureau did award one of its headquarters em
ployees a $5,000 cash award for her "outstanding performance 
* * * in this high visibility * * * major privatization effort." 
Arlene Brown was given the cash award on October 6, 1989 for 
"Special Achievement" even though no performance standards 
were established, nor was a performance rating given for serving 
as the BIA project manager for the first 16 months of the Security
Pacific National Bank contract. Moreover, Ms. Brown had no previ
ous training or experience in trust fund operations and invest
ments or cash management and, in fact, had negotiated a contract, 
of which the principal features, were prohibited by law and were 
impossible to perform because of the congressional directives dis
cussed above. 

Criticism directed toward Security Pacific's nondelivery of con-
tract services is well earned. However, an equal share of the blame 
for this continuing disaster must be laid at the feet of the Bureau 
and specifically the Bureau's top officials. Evidence and testimony
gathered during the course of the subcommittee's review indicates 
that the BIA's headquarters did not have a sufficient grasp or un
derstanding of the agency's own needs prior to the advertisement 
and award of the Security Pacific contract. Moreover, this failure 
to grasp the Bureau's responsibilities and obligations continued 
throughout the period that the contract was in effect.121 As a 

119 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 61-63.
120 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 64-69.
121 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 68. 

 120 
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result, the Bureau repeatedly changed contract requirements 
which, in turn, caused problems and delays and resulted in addi
tional expense. Far from excusing the waste of almost $1 million in 
tax dollars, the Bureau's inept handling of the Security Pacific con-
tract simply underscores the reasons why it should not have been 
awarded in the first place. Ms. Brown's large cash award is even 
more ironic and troublesome in view of the undeniable mismanage
ment of the entire contract. 

C. BIA'S FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE BROOKS ACT 

During its investigation, the subcommittee, in 1989, asked the 
General Accounting Office [GAO] for an opinion on several ques
tions regarding the BIA's contract with Security Pacific National 
Bank. Specifically, the subcommittee asked whether the Federal 
regulations and guidance pertaining to procurement for automated 
data processing equipment and services applied to the accounting
services procured by the BIA under the Security Pacific contract, 
and whether the accounting services should have been procured 
separately from the cash management services or the financial 
trust and investment advisory services. 

The subcommittee was concerned that this acquisition was sub
ject to, and should have been conducted by BIA pursuant to, the 
provisions of section 11 of the Federal Property and Administrative 
Services Act,122 known as the Brooks Act. The Brooks Act places 
authority for supervision and coordination of automatic data proc
essing equipment and services acquisition by Federal agencies with 
the Administrator of General Services. The General Services Ad-
ministration, in turn, has issued regulations governing acquisition 
of automated data processing equipment and services in the Feder
al information resources management regulation, and requires that 
contracts for automated data processing equipment and services ac
quisition subject to the Brooks Act be accomplished in accordance 
with these regulations. The Federal information resources manage
ment regulation requires, among other things, that agencies use 
the method of acquisition that represents the lowest overall system 
life cost to the Government. 

During the subcommittee's investigation, two significant issues 
arose concerning BIA's contract with Security Pacific National 
Bank. The first was whether the acquisition of computer account
ing services should have been conducted under the rule applicable 
to the acquisition of automated data processing—including the 
Brooks Act. The other issue involved BIA's legal authority to con-
tract with the private sector for these services, and in particular, 
whether BIA may contract for the disbursement of Indian trust 
fund moneys. 

In its testimony, GAO pointed out that the Brooks Act covers ac
quisition of services which make "significant use of automated data 
processing." 123 In their decision, GAO concluded that this particu
lar acquisition—the Security Pacific contract—required the signifi
cant use of such equipment and services and, therefore should have 

122 As amended 40 U.S.C. 759, Public Laws 99-500 and 99-591. 
123 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 9. 
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been conducted under the Brooks Act. Further, GAO ruled that 
BIA's failure to obtain a delegation of procurement authority 124 

now left it in the position of holding a contract for which it lacked 
the appropriate authority.125 

BIA continued to claim that a delegation of procurement author
ity was not needed because the automated data processing applica
tion was incidental to the services contracted for, although in later 
testimony BIA disclosed that because the software for the comput
ers running the accounting system had not been developed by Com
puter Data Services, there had been no progress in developing the 
services contracted for from Security Pacific National Bank.126 

When asked if BIA would take action to obtain a delegation of 
procurement authority, BIA responded that further discussions 
with General Accounting Office would precede a final decision. 
Based on these discussions, BIA decided that it would not seek a 
delegation of procurement authority from the General Services Ad-
ministration.127 

In sum, at the subcommittee's October 26, 1989, oversight hear
ing, GAO testified that the Brooks Act did apply to the automated 
data processing equipment and services acquisition included in the 
Security Pacific contract and that the BIA failed to comply with 
the act,128 because it failed to obtain a delegation of procurement 
authority from the General Services Administration.129 

On the second question, GAO issued a decision in March 1990 
stating that so long as a Federal disbursing office exercises mana
gerial responsibility for reviewing and overseeing disbursement op
erations and discharges other judgmental tasks set for it in Federal 
law,130 the agency is not precluded from contracting for the minis
terial and operational aspects of fund disbursement.131 

D. BIA'S FAILURE TO ESTABLISH A COMPREHENSIVE LOSS POLICY 

In his September 29, 1989, audit 132 the inspector general of the 
Department of the Interior reported that BIA has neither properly
recognized investment losses in its official accounting records nor 
reimbursed accounts, when appropriate, for losses on invested 
Indian trust funds. The act of June 24, 1938,133 authorizes the funds 
of any Indian or tribe held in trust by the United States to be in-
vested only in public debt obligations of the United States and in 
bonds, notes, or other obligations that are unconditionally guaran
teed as to both principal and interest by the United States. Inher
ent in this act is the responsibility to properly account for the trust 
funds. For more than 26 months after the inspector general recom
mendations, the BIA did not fulfill this obligation, because it re-

124 U.S. General Accounting Office, opinion letter, B-235999, Sept. 28, 1989.
125Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 10.
126 Id. at 110.
127 Id. at 110.
128 Statement of Robert Hunter, U.S. General Accounting Office, associate general counsel, 

Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 16.
129 Id. at 17.

130  31 U.S.C. §§3321 and 3325.
131 U.S. General Accounting Office, opinion letter, B-236146, Mar. 13, 1990.
132 Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Final Audit Report on Selected As

pects of Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Affairs," Report No. 89-117, Sept. 29, 
133 l6 U.S.C. 162a, June 24, 1938, c. 648, § 1, 52 Stat. 1037. 
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fused to adopt a formal policy or related procedures for recognizing
losses of invested trust funds. 

As a result of this failure, Indian trust fund accounts were not 
reimbursed for investment losses of at least $12 million. The OIG 
summarized his view of these losses as follows: 

We believe this loss of trust funds is inconsistent with 
the fiduciary and trust responsibility the Bureau has over 
Indian resources and with the restrictive investment oper
ating parameters which Congress has instituted to ensure 
the safety of Indian trust funds.134 

The OIG's September 1989 audit report also revealed specific in-
stances of Indian trust fund losses. Significantly, the report notes 
that BIA had failed to recognize losses of invested Indian trust 
funds in its official accounting system or to reimburse accounts or 
accountholders for such losses (when appropriate), noting that 
"Indian trust funds were not reimbursed for investment losses and 
accumulated interest of about $12 million." 135 

BIA's response to these losses has been simple indifference. The 
BIA agreed with the inspector general's recommendation to pre-
pare and implement a procedure that recognizes investment losses 
of the trust, but refused to establish procedures to effect reimburse
ment of such losses.136 

BIA's view that it is not obligated to inform trust fund benefici
aries of losses is clearly without merit. Moreover, the suggestion 
that the BIA is not obligated to reimburse beneficiaries for losses 
when BIA is at fault is nothing short of disgraceful and constitutes 
a serious misconception of the duties of the Federal Government. 
Mr. James R. Richards, inspector general of the U.S. Department 
of the Interior explained to the subcommittee how BIA approached 
losses of Indian trust funds: 

Mr. SYNAR. On page 13 of your report it reads—and let 
me quote it: "We believe that the primary reason why
Indian account holders were not reimbursed for the losses 
they sustained is because the Bureau did not have a 
formal policy to reimburse account holders for losses." You 
go on to say, "From our review, we determined that the 
Bureau's practice regarding known losses of trust funds 
was not to disclose the losses and wait for the account 
holders to become aware of the losses (if they ever do) and 
to file a claim or sue the Government for recovery of the 
funds." 

Now, if the Bureau, Mr. Richards has no policy on how 
to identify the losses, did it (BIA) indicate to you that they
had no policy? 

Mr. RICHARDS. Well, it evolves through a series of cir
cumstances, which led to that inevitable conclusion. The 
Bureau didn't tell us what their policy was or wasn't, but 

134 Supra at 13. 
135 " * * * reimbursement of * * * unrecovered principal plus applicable interest has been de

layed for periods up to 5 years," Supra at 11-15. 
136Supra at 14-15. See also: Statement of James R. Richards, inspector general, U.S. Depart

ment of the Interior, May 20, 1991, hearing at 64-65. 
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we found the losses discussed in the report and in review
ing correspondence files and interviewing Bureau employ
ees, we inquired as to whether these losses were accu
rate—and they were. When we identified a loss, we fol
lowed the trail to determine how the Bureau disposed of it. 
In no case did we find the Bureau had notified the affected 
parties, or reimbursed the trust fund account that had ex
perienced the loss. 

Once legal attempts to recover the losses from principals 
or insurers had been exhausted, the Bureau did not pursue 
the matter further. We therefore concluded that it was the 
Bureau's practice not to disclose investment losses to 
Tribes or individual Indians.137 

At the October 26, 1989, hearing, Mr. Walt Mills, Deputy Assist-
ant Secretary of Interior for Indian Affairs, was asked to explain 
whether BIA had a policy on notice and reimbursement of Indian 
trust funds losses: 

Mr. SYNAR. * * * Has it been the BIA's practice not to 
inform Tribes and Indians of [trust fund] losses * * *? 

Mr. MILLS. On the losses of the IIM [Individual Indian 
Money] accounts, we have not notified all accounts. 

Mr. SYNAR. IS that the policy of the BIA? 
Mr. MILLS. The BIA has no policy, so I guess you could 

say that could be. 
Mr. SYNAR. * * * Where do you do your banking, Mr. 

Mills? 
Mr. MILLS. Right now, in Oklahoma. 
Mr. SYNAR. In Anadarko? 
Mr. MILLS. At Chickasha. 
Mr. SYNAR. If the bank at Chickasha or your investment 

advisor there lost your money, would you be mad if they 
didn't inform you? 

Mr. MILLS. I definitely would.138 

Despite BIA's limited concurrence with the inspector general's 
recommendation to implement procedures to correct the deficien
cies in trust loss procedures identified by the OIG's September 1989 
report, BIA again delayed corrective actions for more than 2 
years,139 an unconscionable abrogation of the BIA's fiduciary re-
sponsibilities.140 

Moreover, BIA's failure to implement the inspector general's rec
ommendations coupled with its long delay in auditing and reconcil
ing all Indian trust fund accounts constitute a liability risk to the 

137Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 34-35. 
138Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 449. 
139 Statement of James R. Richards, inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, May 

20, 1991 hearing at 64-65; letter to Chairman Synar from Dr. Eddie Brown, Assistant Secretary 
for Indian Affairs, October 31, 1991, May 20, 1991, hearing appendix, at 301. 

140May 20, 1991 hearing at 64-65; See also: Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, 
"Final Audit Report on Selected Aspects of Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Af
fairs," Report No. 89-117, Sept. 29, 1989, 15. 



39


American taxpayer,141 and could eventually result in costly litiga-
tion.142 

Indeed, the Bureau has repeatedly failed to even notify account-
holders when such losses have occurred.143 The loss of trust funds is 
inconsistent with the Bureau's fiduciary and trust responsibil-
ities.144 

Ironically, although the Bureau delayed implementing the in
spector general's recommendations, it has never been constricted in 
its ability or authority to collect overpayments. Existing law au
thorizes the Secretary to collect claims of the U.S. Government for 
any overpayment to an Indian trust fund accountholder without 
resort to litigation, including actions taken through administrative 
offsets.145 In fact, the Bureau has exercised its authority to redeem 
overpayments, even in some instances, where the tribal account-
holder had not been overpaid. 

It is a fundamental rule of law that persons who receive money
erroneously paid by a Government agency or official acquire no 
right to such money, and the courts consistently have held that 
such persons are bound in equity and good conscience to make res
titution. For example, in DiSilvestro v. United States,146 the court 
said, 

It is, of course, well established that parties receiving
monies from the Government under mistake of fact or law 
are liable ex aequo et bono to refund them, and no specific 
statutory authorization upon which to base a claimed right 
or set-off or an affirmative action for recovery of these 
monies is necessary. 

141 "The Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1993," Jan. 29, 1992, part 1, at 
345, estimates potential losses due to mismanagement at $25 to $30 million. As of Nov. 14, 1991, 
the Bureau and the Solicitor of the Department of the Interior had been informed that losses of 
at least $3,923,012 plus interest had occurred because the Bureau had invested trust funds in at 
least three financial institutions (credit unions) which subsequently failed. Both the Federal De-
posit Insurance Corporation [FDIC] and National Credit Union Administration [NCUA] have 
denied BIA's requests for reconsideration of initial insurance determinations, which denied cov
erage for funds invested in excess of insurance limitations. In its letter of Jan. 3, 1992 (letter 
available at subcommittee office), FDIC was unable to reconsider its original determination de
nying insurance coverage, because BIA and the Department of the Interior had waited "almost 
2 years" after the initial determinations denying coverage even though requests for reconsider
ation must be filed within 60 days of the original determination as required by 12 C.F.R. 
§ 564.1(d)(3). Although, the Bureau has, albeit belatedly, sought recovery from the insuring orga
nization it has not requested congressional authorization and appropriations to reimburse the 
injured tribal or individual Indian accountholders for losses plus interest which occurred be-
tween Mar. 1984 and July 1985. For full discussion of Bureau investments in failed financial 
institutions, see: Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Final Audit Report on Se
lected Aspects of Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Affairs," Report No. 89-117, 
Sept. 29, 1989, at 12, 13, 14, and 15. 

142 May 20, 1991, hearing at 45-49. It is clear that the BIA has not made a full accounting of 
the property and funds held in trust for 300,000 native Americans; that it has not provided re-
ports to those accountholders that state in clear terms the specific investments made with their 
money, the rate of interest, and the amount earned on each investment; and that it has not 
acted properly to maximize the trust income by prudent investments. Because of these breaches 
of fiduciary duties the Federal Government cannot affirmatively establish that it has properly
discharged its trust; losses as a result of BIA's failures must be repaid from the general funds of 
the United States—that is, paid from taxpayer dollars. See also: U.S. General Accounting Office, 
"Financial Management: BIA Has Made Little Progress In Reconciling Trust Accounts and Stra
tegic Planning," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-38, March 1992.

143Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Final Audit Report on Selected As
pects of Indian Trust Fund Activities, Bureau of Indian Affairs," Report No. 89-117, Sept. 29, 
1989, at 13.

144Supra at 15.
14531 U.S.C. 3711, 3713, 3716
146405 F.2d 150, 155 (2d Cir. 1968), cert. denied, 396 U.S. 964 (1969). 
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General trust principles are in accord. If a trustee makes an 
overpayment to a trust beneficiary, the beneficiary would be un
justly enriched if permitted to retain the amount overpaid.147 Thus, 
in most circumstances, a trustee is authorized to set off against the 
sums due a beneficiary a debt of the beneficiary to the trustee.148 

Without comprehensive loss policies and procedures, individual 
Indians and tribes may be without an effective or timely avenue of 
recourse for losses caused by BIA errors. Among other things, the 
Bureau can simply withhold disbursements from trust funds until 
an alleged overpayment is satisfied. As the subcommittee's hearing
clearly demonstrated, tribes and individual Indians have been far 
less successful in obtaining restitution from the BIA. Consider the 
case of the Red Lake Band of Chippewa Indians. It took more than 
9 years, from 1982 to 1991, for the band, headquartered at Red 
Lake, MN, to receive restitution for BIA's errors in accounting for 
Red Lake's tribal trust accounts.149 

Until 1981, the BIA maintained a separate accounting station at 
the Red Lake agency office. This accounting system was responsi
ble for daily management and accounting of cash activities for the 
various trust funds owned by the Red Lake Band. However in 1981, 
when the band learned that BIA was deducting the costs of manag
ing the trust funds from the tribal trust accounts, Red Lake de
manded that the practice be stopped and that the BIA provide a 
full accounting of Red Lake's tribal trust funds. The matter was ex
amined by the OIG, who found that tribal balances were incorrect, 
that undocumented adjustments had been made to the Red Lake's 
tribal balances, and that the Red Lake Band had several hundred 
thousand dollars more than BIA showed on its records.150 The OIG 
directed BIA to respond to its findings by September 1982. Howev
er, BIA never responded. In 1983, Red Lake sued the BIA, in Feder
al district court, and ordered BIA to have all Red Lake trust ac
counts audited. The audit found that BIA's financial statements 
understated Red Lake's balance by more than $800,000. But, BIA 
refused to make restitution arguing that the audit was merely a 
"management tool." Instead, while the litigation was still active, in 
January 1989, BIA unilaterally transferred approximately $1.25 
million out of Red Lake accounts after determining that the tribes' 
trust fund investments were overstated.151 It was not until shortly
after an April 24, 1990, hearing that Red Lake received $362,000 as 
partial payment of its claims against the BIA.152 

At the subcommittee's September 25, 1990, hearing then-Assist-
ant Secretary of the Interior Lou Gallegos was asked whether there 
was any justification for the Government to have a double stand
ard treating losses and overpayments differently: 

Mr. SNYAR. Mr. Gallegos, if an audit of [tribal or IIM] 
accounts reveals * * * that money was owed by the ac-

147III Scott, "Law of Trusts," § 254 (3d. Ed. 1967); "Restatement (Second) of Trusts" § 254 
(1959).

14S Bogert, "Law of Trusts and Trustees," § 814 (Rev. 2d ed. 1981).
149 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 75. 
150Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Memorandum Audit Report, Account

ing for Red Lake Trust Funds," C-IA-BIA-20-82(e), June 22, 1982.
151 Oct. 26, 1989, hearing at 78-84.
152Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 75. 
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count holder to the trust fund, isn't it safe to assume that 
the department would notify the account holder and at-
tempt to recover that money fairly quickly? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, that is something that 
definitely should result. I'm not prepared to state that it 
does, however. 

Mr. SYNAR. Isn't that precisely what happened with the 
Red Lake Band of Chippewa Indians? Didn't BIA find a 
mistake in the Red Lake Indian Mill trust operating ac
count, which the BIA decided was an error in favor of the 
Federal Government and, the BIA unilaterally acted to 
remove the money from Red Lake's * * * account? 

* * * * * 
Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, I am just now informed 

that is correct. 
Mr. SYNAR. Can you give this Subcommittee, Mr. Galle

gos, any legitimate reason why the same standard should 
not apply in the reverse situation; and why it would be the 
Department of the Interior's position not to notify the ac
count holders when you find that the BIA owes them 
money? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, I would not attempt to 
find a reason why the Department should not be held to 
the same standard.153 

After acknowledging the double standard argument for a com
prehensive loss policy and procedures, Mr. Gallegos affirmed that 
the Department had not complied with the OIG recommendations, 
had not requested a Solicitor's opinion, or established a policy of 
notifying account holders of Indian trust fund losses: 

Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Gallegos, the Inspector General told this 
subcommittee * * * that the primary reason why the 
Indian account holders were not reimbursed for the losses 
that they sustained as a result of BIA mismanagement 
is—let me quote [the OIG] again—"because the Bureau 
does not have a formal policy to reimburse account holders 
for losses." 

Has the Bureau yet established a formal procedure to re
imburse Indian Trust Fund losses on these investments, 
Mr. Gallegos? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, I am advised that the 
Bureau has made a commitment to establish a process by
which individual account holders 

Mr. SYNAR. That is not the question, Mr. Gallegos. 
Have they established the formal procedures? 
Mr. GALLEGOS. Not at this point, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Gallegos, what steps has the Depart

ment of the Interior taken to direct the Bureau to comply
with the Inspector General's recommendation? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, the department has taken 
numerous steps across a broad range of initiatives that 

153 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 74-75. 
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have to do with the overall improvement of Bureau's per
formance. 

Mr. SYNAR. Could you tell us one, Mr. Gallegos? 
Mr. GALLEGOS. Yes, sir. The Department in fact has been 

very interactive with the Bureau of Indian Affairs in the 
analysis of this particular trust fund management problem 
for several months, trying to find the best methodology to 
address the larger question to remedy for the longer term 
the question of how to manage the trust; how to account 
for the trust; and how to inform the account holders as to 
what that status is. 

Mr. SYNAR. But there has been no notice to account 
holders, has there, Mr. Gallegos? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Not that I am aware of, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Gallegos, the Inspector General has 

stated that the Bureau and the Department's response to 
this problem has been inadequate. And based upon the evi
dence before the Subcommittee, I've got to tell you, I agree 
with that. Moreover, I am certain that the courts would 
agree, too. Now remember that the standard set by the 
courts is that the government must—and let me quote 
again—"affirmatively establish that it has properly dis
charged its trust." 

Has the Department, Mr. Gallegos, consulted with the 
Solicitor to determine whether the Bureau should seek 
specific authorization and appropriations to reimburse ac
count holders for losses attributable to BIA's mismanage
ment? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, I am not personally 
aware—I do not have direct personal knowledge that has 
been done; but I am told that it has been done.154 

Mr. SYNAR. Mr. Gallegos, on what basis do you believe 
the BIA and the Department of the Interior, acting as 
trustees, are justified in sitting back and hoping that ac
count holders will not discover losses on their accounts? 

Mr. GALLEGOS. Mr. Chairman, the Department and the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs are not justified in sitting back 
and awaiting for the individual account holders to discover 
that. 

We believe that the department and the BIA are pro
ceeding in a proactive way to establish factually what an 

ly.155account holder may be due, and make payments according-

At the close of the September 25, 1990, oversight hearing, Chair-
man Synar directed the Interior Department to prepare a policy
for notifying accountholders of Indian trust fund losses. For more 
than 1 year nothing happened. At the close of the May 20, 1991 
oversight hearing, Chairman Synar reiterated his instruction. How-

154Despite repeated requests for documentation, the Bureau has provided the subcommittee 
with no evidence that such a request of the Solicitor's Office was ever made.

155 Sept. 25, 1990, hearing at 73-75. 



43 

ever, it was not until September 13, 1991, that the BIA provided a 
copy of its draft policy to the Intertribal Monitoring Association156 

for comment. A final document entitled "Policies Regarding Notifi
cation and Reimbursement to Indian Trust Fund Account Holders 
for Losses Attributable to Bureau Errors" was submitted to the As
sistant Secretary for approval on October 16, 1991. It was subse
quently signed by the Assistant Secretary and transmitted to 
Chairman Synar on October 31, 1991.157 

The Department's October 31, 1991, transmittal letter to Chair-
man Synar erroneously states that General Accounting Office com
ments were considered.158 The loss policy was, in fact, finalized 
without General Accounting Office comments. Moreover, the policy 
was finalized without addressing comments by the Interior Solici
tor's Office and without review by the Inspector General's Office. 
Under these conditions it is reasonable for the subcommittee to 
question whether Bureau's loss policy is sufficient and appropriate. 

Nevertheless, the development of any loss policy must be consid
ered a step forward. The apparent intent of the document was to 
codify the Bureau's legal responsibility to both tribes and individ
ual Indians for losses incurred as a result of errors made by the 
Bureau or any other Federal agency in the course of administering 
accounts held by the Bureau in the behalf. For the first time, the 
Bureau has endorsed a policy statement that defines "loss" and 
identifies Government errors that may result in losses. It attempts 
to prescribe a procedure for (1) determining whether a loss has oc
curred and the amount of the loss, and (2) reimbursing account 
holders for losses established in application of this procedure. 

The committee recognizes that the Bureau's loss policy is an im
portant acknowledgement of the Bureau's trust responsibilities to 
tribal and individual Indian accountholders, and supports the Bu
reau's imposition of timeframes on the documentation, notification 
and reimbursement procedures. However, the committee is con
cerned that the policy is deficient in several important respects. 
For example, the policy statement fails to articulate a mechanism 
through which the Bureau will identify and correct errors that 
may result in losses as they occur, or to implement routine checks 
that will actually uncover losses. Rather than relying on account 
holders or Bureau staff to identify losses as they come to their at
tention, the Bureau should implement systems and procedures that 
will seek out losses.159 

The policy statement also fails to define the documentation the 
Bureau will need to establish the existence of and amount of losses. 
In defining losses to IIM accountholders, the Bureau neglects to in-

156The Intertribal Monitoring Association [ITMA] has served as the primary contact for moni
toring, directing and corresponding with BIA management over Indian trust fund financial 
management and reform efforts.

157Letter to Chairman Synar from Dr. Eddie F. Brown, Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs, 
dated Oct. 31, 1991, May 20, 1991, hearing, appendix, at 301.

158 Id. at 301. 
159 The ongoing audit and reconciliation project may uncover additional errors, some of which 

may favor the Federal Government and others which may favor the beneficiaries. For its part, 
the BIA has agreed not to proceed on the collections of alleged overpayments, except those al
ready in process prior to July 26, 1991, until account holders have had an opportunity to review 
and provide input into the reconciliation and audit conclusions reported by Arthur Andersen & 
Co., See: Letter from Deputy Assistant Secretary Indian Affairs, Aug. 30, 1991, in the May 20, 
1991, hearing appendix at 194, 198. 
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clude interest that was earned, but not credited to the appropriate 
account. The Comptroller General's decision of March 25, 1991, ap
plies only to interest lost when the Bureau fails to invest IIM 
funds. 

Before the loss reimbursement policy was completed and adopt
ed, it was necessary for the Bureau to direct the contractor for the 
trust reconciliation and audit project on how such questions should 
be reported during phase 1 of the project.160 Consequently, Stanley 
M. Speaks, former Acting Deputy Commissioner of Indian Affairs, 
requested that the Comptroller General issue an advance determi-
nation161 on the propriety of paying IIM accountholders interest 
income that would have, but did not, accrue because of the Bu
reau's management of those accounts. 

On March 25, 1991, the Comptroller General concluded162 that 
the Bureau is not legally required to pay interest on individual 
Indian moneys because current law163 governing the investment of 
individual Indian moneys does not require the investment of IIM 
funds. As a result, GAO determined that the BIA is not liable to 
IIM accountholders for interest on uninvested IIM funds. The deci
sion applies only to interest lost when the Bureau fails to invest 
IIM funds, not to the distribution of interest actually earned. 

Notably, this outcome is contrary to the statutory requirements 
governing tribal funds, which the Secretary is not only authorized 
but directed to invest. To correct this inconsistency and equitable 
deficiency, on April 11, 1991, Representative Synar, chairman of 
the subcommittee introduced the Native American Trust Fund 
Equity Act of 1991, H.R. 1756, legislation to require the Secretary 
of the Interior to invest and pay interest on IIM funds held in trust 
by the Federal Government. Enactment of H.R. 1756 would elimi
nate the inconsistency between investment of tribal and IIM funds 
and fill a gap in the Secretary's authority by requiring him to do 
what any private sector fiduciary would otherwise be required to 
do. 

As documented by Interior's inspector general and others, there 
have been many instances where the Bureau has, either by neglect 
or by deliberate action, failed to invest some IIM moneys, and de
prived accountholders of the opportunities to earn interest income 
by failing to record interest income properly or to credit an 
accountholder with interest earned. For example, the BIA has not 
calculated—or paid—interest on oil and gas royalties since 1985, al-

160 Without a full and accurate accounting of the account balances in the Indian trust fund, 
neither the BIA, the Congress, nor the IIM accountholders are in a position to calculate with 
any certainty an estimated total of lost interest, or even to identify, for example, those accounts 
or portions of accounts that have not been invested, over what period of time BIA may have 
failed to invest particular IIM funds, or when interest may not have been posted properly. See: 
May 20, 1991, hearing at 45-49. 

161 The Comptroller General's Decision has the force of law. Title 31 of the United States Code 
authorizes the Comptroller General to advise agencies on how they may spend their appropria
tions and, to settle claims against the Government. While technically this decision was merely 
an advance determination advising the BIA that it would be in violation of appropriations laws 
to pay imputed, unearned interest on IIM accounts, in effect, the decision also advises the BIA 
on how the General Accounting Office would settle claims filed against BIA for imputed interest 
in IIM accounts. See: 31 U.S.C. §§ 3711(b), Public Law, 89-508 § 3, 80 Stat. 309. 

162 U.S. General Accounting Office Opinion, B-243029, Mar. 25, 1991. 
163 25 U.S.C. 162a, June 24, 1938, c. 648, § 1, 52 Stat. 1037. 
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though such funds are invested as part of the IIM pool of funds.164 

Moreover, BIA's October 1991 loss policy fails to recognize that it is 
obligated to pay interest on IIM funds that it did invest. 

While the Bureau has now undertaken this task, its longstanding
failure to develop and implement a sound loss and reimbursement 
policy, including notification to accountholders that such losses had 
occurred, was inexcusable. Moreover, as noted above, the policy
which ultimately was developed is still deficient in several impor
tant respects—deficiencies the committee expects will be addressed 
and resolved by the Bureau. Additionally, the committee expects 
the Bureau to implement all appropriate controls and training re
quirements necessary to prevent or at the very least minimize the 
occurrence of such losses in the first place. 

The Native American Trust Fund Equity Act of 1991 will correct 
and reinforce the Federal Government's legal, moral, and ethical 
obligations to individual Indian moneys account holders. By its en
actment, Congress would create the authority for the Secretary of 
the Interior to honor our fiduciary responsibilities to native Ameri
cans. Any expenditures under such authority will be subject to the 
annual appropriations process. 

Clearly, the responsibilities imposed by treaties, statutes and the 
courts have established a complex set of responsibilities for the 
BIA. However, accounting for the daily and annual balances of the 
trust fund has been a continuing point of controversy and rightful 
criticism of BIA management. There are hundreds of thousands of 
native Americans who look to the BIA for assistance and coopera
tion. They deserve a fiduciary who is required to do what any pri
vate sector fiduciary would otherwise be required to do, and have a 
right to expect that BIA will meet its fiduciary responsibilities. 

E. BIA'S FAILURE TO IMPLEMENT THE RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE 
GOVERNMENT OPERATIONS COMMITTEE 

Accounting and financial management problems elsewhere in 
the Department of the Interior also plague the BIA's efforts to ac
curately account for trust funds. These problems have been the 
subject of previous committee and congressional investigations. 

On July 19, 1985, the Committee on Government Operations ap
proved and adopted a report entitled "Indian Oil and Gas Royalty
Payments: Problems Persist." In that report the committee found 
that the Department of the Interior, the Minerals Management 
Service [MMS] and the Bureau of Indian Affairs had failed to 
eliminate certain impediments to a workable program for adminis
tration of Indian oil and gas royalties. Notably the committee 
found that the Department, MMS, and BIA had failed to provide a 
timely explanation of payments to allotees, and failed to establish a 
comprehensive system for identifying underpayments, overpay
ments, and nonpayments of oil and gas royalties. In turn, these 
failures diminish the BIA's efforts to accurately account for funds 
held in trust. 

164May 20, 1991, hearing at 167-168. See also: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, Office of Trust Fund Management, "Fiscal Year 1992 Short Term Projects," No
vember 1991, at 6-7 (document available in subcommittee office). 
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The Federal Oil and Gas Royalty Management Act of 1982 
[FOGRMA] requires that the Secretary deposit royalties related to 
production of oil and gas on Indian lands to the appropriate Indian 
account no later than the last day of the month in which the funds 
are received.165 FOGRMA also requires that there shall be provided 
with such payment, a description of the type of payment being
made, the period covered, the source, production amounts, royalty 
rate, unit value and other information agreed to by the Secretary 
and the Indian allottee.166 Another purpose of the Act was to cure 
abuses which resulted from "allowing industry to operate essential
ly on an honor system." 167 

Unfortunately, these problems continue to persist. In the report 
on its hearing on the Interior and related agencies appropriations 
for 1987, the House Appropriations Subcommittee included the re
sults of its investigative study, which disclosed that MMS operated 
its Royalty Management Program on the honor system because 
MMS has no means of verification.168 As recently as its June 1991 
Compliance Task Force Report, MMS openly acknowledged that its 
"Royalty Management Program [still] operates on an honor 
system." 169 

Numerous inspector general and GAO reports have noted that 
the Minerals Management Service's systems for collection, pay
ment and reporting of royalties do not ensure accurate and timely 
revenue collection and distribution to States, tribes, and Indian al
lottees. MMS' priority is to process payments within 30 days—not 
to ensure that the payments are accurate. In fact, the Minerals 
Management Service reduced its royalty accounting system edit 
controls 170 from 839 in May of 1983 to 159 in October 1984. In 1990, 
after 5 years of effort to improve its systems, MMS had 161 edit 
controls of which 107 were critical to payment processing, but not 
necessarily payment accuracy. A July 1990 inspector general 
report 171 to Representative Morris K. Udall 172 noted that the Min
erals Management Service implemented and continued to operate 
the interagency data base verification system on lease information 
without testing it to determine if it produced accurate reports, 

165 
166

 30 U.S.C. 1714, Public Law 97-451, title I, § 104(b), 96 Stat. 2452. 
167

 30 U.S.C. 1715, Public Law 97-451, title I, § 195, 96 Stat. 2452. 
House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, H. Report No. 97-859, 97th Congress, 1st 

sess. at 15. 
168 Committee on Appropriations, 99th Congress, 2d sess., part 12, "Royalty Management," at 

16.
169 Office of the Assistant Secretary for Land and Minerals and Mineral Management Service, 

U.S. Department of the Interior, "Report on the Task Force on Royalty Compliance," June 1991, 
"Foreword" at 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8; "Compliance Task Force Report," at 6, 7, 9, 11, 16, and 20. 

170 Throughout the 1980's, numerous studies and audits reported data reliability problems 
with MMS' automated royalty management systems. A key component of this program is verifi
cation of self-reported mineral production data. Edit controls are a means of identifying poor 
production or royalty documentation within the automated royalty management system. In 
short, edit controls are the red flags that alert Federal managers to the problems that may re-
quire additional documentation to verify the accuracy of any report. By reducing the number of 

ed Royalty Management System," GAO/IMTEC-90-85, July 27, 1990; U.S. General Accounting
Office, "Mineral Revenues: Shortcomings in Onshore Federal Oil and Gas Production Verifica
tion," GAO/RCED-90-99, June 26, 1990; U.S. General Accounting Office, "Interior Has Not 
Solved Indian Oil and Gas Royalty Payment Problems," GAO-IMTEC-86-13, Mar. 31, 1986. 

171 Minerals Management Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Interagency Data Base 
Verification System, Report No. 90-75, June 1990, at 11.

172 Former chairman of the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs. 
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without obtaining acceptance from the Bureau of Land Manage
ment, and without correcting major programming errors. The in
spector general concluded that, as a result, Minerals Management 
Service implemented and has continued to operate a system that 
generates reports that contain an astounding 26 percent error rate. 
The Minerals Management Service also has not implemented roy
alty system improvements as promised to Chairman Synar during 
the subcommittee's 1985 hearing.173 These systems include: (1) au
diting and financial system [AFS] (1983); production accounting and 
auditing system [PAAS] (1984); bonus rental accounting support 
system [BRASS] (1984); and, business system planning implementa
tion [BSPI] (1986). 

During a 1987 Appropriations Subcommittee hearing on uncol
lected royalties, the questioner is Chairman Yates, the witness is 
William Bettenberg, then-Director of MMS and now Deputy Assist-
ant Secretary of the Interior for Indian Affairs about these con
tinuing problems: 

Mr. YATES. SO you know that there is a big amount that 
is uncollected, a huge amount that is uncollected. In the 
hundreds of millions. 

Mr. BETTENBERG. Some place, certainly, in the hundreds 
of millions since we have collected $320 million. The sug
gestion of $30 to $50 

Mr. YATES. Here is the Linowes report.174 Has this been 
changed? 

Audits conducted by the private oil and gas 
companies show that royalties due are normally
understated by 7 to 10 percent. In its 1981 report, 
GAO said: "[H]undreds of millions of dollars owed 
the Government may be going uncollected each 
year." 

Let me go back to the hearing where you and I were 
kind of fencing with each other about how well you were 
doing. On page 726 of part 10 of our hearings, Mr. Betten
berg on the Indians and their rights, [reading]: 

"We are exercising the secretary's trust respon
sibility so far as collecting the money is con
cerned." 

Mr. Yates: "Wait a minute. You are collecting
the money, but you don't know whether the collec
tions are adequate" and you don't. "The allottees 
don't know whether the collections are adequate 
and BIA does not know whether the collections 
are adequate", and it does not, "and BIA has the 
responsibility on behalf of the allottees to deter-
mine whether the collections are adequate, doesn't 
it? Are you saying you have that responsibility." 

173 See: Committee on Government Operations, "Indian Oil and Gas Royalty Payments: Prob
lems Persist," House Report 99-414, and related hearings. 

174 Report of the Commission, "Fiscal Accountability of the Nation's Energy Resources," David 
F. Linowes, Chairman, Jan. 21, 1982. 
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Mr. Bettenberg [said,]: "I think we [MMS] have 
the responsibility and we have that responsibility
with other Federal lands." 

Mr. Yates said, "Then for heaven's sake, you 
are opening up the United States for a tremen
dous lawsuit because, on the basis of your testimo
ny here this morning, you are saying that you are 
not really doing an adequate job of knowing
whether or not the amounts you have collected 
are the correct amounts." 

Mr. Bettenberg says, "I think what I said is we 
are getting better and better at that." 

Mr. Yates says, "Sure you are, Sure you are get
ting better and better. It has been four years since 
the Linowes Commission issued its report. 
FOGRMA was passed two years ago and you are 
still struggling to try to get * * * regulations ap
proved." You still don't have product value regu
lation. There is no way you are going to get 

Mr. BETTENBERG. Actually we have product value regula
tion. 

Mr. YATES. That isn't what your advisory committee 
tells us * * * 175 

To date, the Bureau of Indian Affairs continues to have problems 
with the Minerals Management Service royalty payment and re-
porting practices.176 Those problems stem from the Bureau's inabil
ity to obtain sufficient data from MMS to prove that the payments 
received are accurate.177 Because Minerals Management Service is 
the Interior Department agency with responsibility for managing
the Royalty Management Program and ensuring that mineral reve
nues are fully and fairly collected, the BIA's performance of its fi
duciary duties is dependent upon MMS's performance. BIA relies 
completely on MMS to monitor royalty and production account
ing 178 and on the Bureau of Land Management to monitor actual 
production in the field. 

175Committee on Appropriations, hearing on Department of the Interior and related agencies 
appropriations for 1987, 99th Congress, 2d sess., part 12, royalty management, at 120. See also: 
Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Mission Accomplishment, Fiscal Account
ing Division, Royalty Management Program, Minerals Management Service, No. E-LM-MMS-
07-87B," report No. 88-61, Apr. 1, 1988, at 3, 4, 9, and 10. 

176 After a discussion of the June 1991 "Compliance Task Force Report," the State and Tribal 
Royalty Audit Committee [STRAC] concluded its September 1991 quarterly meeting with MMS 
by noting that the MMS report is evidence that "nothing has changed since the Linowes Com
mission" in 1982. State and Tribal Royalty Audit Committee, Washington, DC, Sept. 26, 1991. 
(Confirmed in GAO notes.) For related information: Arthur Andersen & Co., "Tribal and Indi
vidual Indian Moneys Trust Funds Managed By The U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, Financial Statements as of Sept. 30, 1989 and 1988, Together With Report of In-
dependent Public Accountants," May 11, 1990, at 12, 13, and 15. 

177Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, staff report, "Federal Minerals Royalty Man
agement: An Analysis of Problem Areas Related to the Department of the Interior s Minerals 
Management Service with Recommended Solutions," Feb. 19, 1992, at 4, 29, 39, and 42. 

178Such reliance may not be wise. For example, the Department's inspector general has re-
ported that MMS spent $400,000 developing and implementing the interagency data base verifi
cation system "without analyzing alternative systems and without performing a cost-benefit 
analysis for each alternative." This produced a system that the inspector general described as 
"[containing] significant errors in logic"; "not completely tested for accuracy"; "not supported 
by over half of the * * * users"; "not completely [fulfilling] the objectives of accurately compar-

Continued 
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If the Bureau cannot prove that the royalties received from MMS 
are accurate, it cannot adequately protect account holders. But the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs has acknowledged that neither Minerals 
Mineral Service nor the Bureau of Land Management completes 
up-front monitoring and data collection processes necessary to 
ensure that royalty payments and reports are accurate. For exam
ple, MMS allows producers to unilaterally assess tribes and BIA's 
Indian allottee accountholders negative royalty adjustments for al
leged overpayments without any verification that the recoupments 
are valid.179 These negative royalty payments assessed against 
BIA's allottees affect the tribal and IIM investment pool, reducing 
interest earned. Because BIA disburses payments to allottees 
monthly, negative royalty adjustments can result in an insufficient 
balance in an allottee account to cover the negative royalty pay
ments. However, since BIA policy precludes posting a negative ad
justment to an account which is greater than the balance in the 
account, these negative payments can only be posted to the invest
ment pool reducing the amount available for investment across the 
pool and, therefore, adversely affecting a number of different ac
countholders' funds. 

Deficiencies in MMS data collection have caused other problems 
for the investment pool as testimony from the subcommittee May 
20, 1991 hearing indicates: 

Mr. SYNAR. Isn't it true that the last time BIA distribut
ed interest earned on oil and gas royalty collections to the 
allottees and tribal accounts was 1985? 

Mr. EDDIE BROWN. Yes, I am told. 
Mr. SYNAR. YOU don't expect us to have another 6-year 

gap for the interest payments, do you? 
Mr. PARRIS.180 NO. The interest related to oil and gas 

royalties is going to be distributed as a result of the peti-
tion.181 

Mr. SYNAR. When?

Mr. PARRIS. We at this time are in the final

Mr. SYNAR. When? When? 
Mr. PARRIS. By October. 
Mr. SYNAR. Of this year. 
Mr. PARRIS. Correct. 
Mr. SYNAR. Have you consulted the tribes on this 

matter? 

ing and verifying common data elements"; and, "neither efficient nor effective in resolving dif
ferences among * * * data bases." Inspector general, U.S. Department of the Interior, "Final 
Audit Report—Interagency Data Base Verification System, Mineral Management Service," 
report to the Secretary of the Interior No. 90-75, June 1990, notes added. [Cited at Sept. 25, 
1990, hearing at 71.]

179 This policy appears to be wholly inconsistent with the Federal Oil and Gas Royalty Man
agement Act of 1982 [FOGRMA], 30 U.S.C. 1701, 1714, 1715, and 1721. Public Law 97-451, 96 
Stat 2452. This royalty management system appears to depend solely on allowing the industry 
to operate on an honor system—an abuse which Congress specifically sought to curtail when it 
passed FOGRMA. House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, House Report No. 97-859, 
97th Cong., 1st sess., reprinted in 1982 United States Code and Cong, and Admin. News at 4269. 

180 Director of the Bureau of Indian Affairs' Office of Trust Fund Management. 
181 Accountholders had to petition the Federal Government for distribution of their funds. 



50 

Mr. PARRIS. This is mainly involving—this particular sit
uation involves mainly allottees' accounts.182 

On February 19, 1992, the House Committee on Interior and In
sular Affairs issued at report of its recent investigation of MMS' 
Royalty Management Program. The committee found that despite 
MMS' continued promises that longstanding issues were being ad-
dressed, serious program and systems deficiencies continue to exist. 
The report notes that there has been little progress since the 1982 
Linowes report; that AFS system implementation is dismal and 
that system does not calculate interest owed to Indians on insuffi
cient royalty estimates, which are later adjusted in favor of Indi
ans; and, that 25 to 30 percent of all data submitted to MMS are 
erroneous and most of these errors go uncorrected.183 

Unless corrections are made in the serious, longstanding weak
nesses in the Minerals Management Service and Bureau of Land 
Management systems and operations supporting the Royalty Man
agement Program, the Bureau of Indian Affairs cannot accurately 
maintain the accounts in the Indian trust fund, even if all Indian 
ownership records are verified and accurately maintained and all 
trust accounts are reconciled, audited, and certified. 

F. BIA'S FAILURE TO PREPARE A STRATEGIC PLAN 

Developing a comprehensive strategic management plan describ
ing the elements of specific action necessary to solve the structural 
problems that have besieged the financial management of the 
Indian trust fund for decades is the logical first step the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs must undertake to assure Congress, the public, and 
the native American community that the Department and the 
Bureau are committed to, and will be successful in, professional, 
competent financial management of the Indian trust fund and re-
storing the Bureau's administrative credibility. 

At the close of the subcommittee's May 20, 1991 oversight hear
ing, Chairman Synar directed the Bureau to submit a strategic 
plan for improved financial management of the Indian trust fund 
by June 30, 1991. However, he noted that additional time would be 
granted, if BIA demonstrated it was working effectively with the 
tribes and account holders representatives 184 to develop the plan. 

In response to long-term deficiencies in BIA's management of the 
Indian trust fund and BIA's other persistent management failures 
and deficiencies, the President's Office of Management and Budget 
[OMB] designated BIA as a high risk agency requiring priority at
tention in October 1989, stating that "dates for correcting weak
nesses are continually extended * * * [and] controls are inad-

182 May 20, 1991, hearing at 167-168. As of Feb. 21, 1992, no interest had been distributed. See 
also: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, Office of Trust Fund Manage
ment, "Fiscal Year 1992 Short Term Projects," November 1991, at 6-7 (document available at 
the subcommittee office). 

183 Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs, "Federal Mineral Royalty Management: An 
Analysis of Problem Areas Related to the Department of the Interior's Minerals Management 
Service with Recommended Solutions," a report prepared by the staff of the committee, Feb. 19, 
1992, at 3, 4, 14, 21, and 24. 

184 May 20, 1991, hearing at 168-169. 
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equate." 185 This action was followed in June, 1991, when OMB for
mally designated the BIA trust funds a high risk area. OMB con
tinues to report BIA's Indian trust fund management as a high 
risk activity of the Federal Government in its fiscal year 1993, 
adding that the taxpayers are at risk for $25 to $30 million in po
tential losses due to mismanagement.186 

During the time that OMB has listed BIA's trust fund operations 
on its list of high risk areas of the Federal Government,187 BIA 
failed to undertake corrective actions to address internal material 
control weaknesses in the operation of the Indian trust fund. For 
example, in November 1990, OMB reported that the BIA was "not 
addressing the high risk area constructively nor solving any prob
lems." That report found that the BIA's plans for correcting mate-
rial weaknesses in trust fund management "are not acceptable be-
cause events are out of sequence, milestones don't support correc
tive action necessary to decrease risks and results indicators are 
not clear." 188 BIA had no strategic plan in May 1991.189 Inexplica
bly, however, BIA still does not have a comprehensive strategic 
management plan.190 

Additionally, in November 1990, President Bush signed the Chief 
Financial Officers [CFO] Act,191 which required 23 executive agen
cies to reorganize their financial management to remedy longstand
ing financial management problems. This act is the most compre
hensive financial reform package in 40 years. It calls for the estab
lishment of a chief financial officer structure and a cadre of 
trained accounting professionals in each Department, the develop
ment of a comprehensive 5-year plan to guide the implementation 
of modern financial systems and the building of first-rate financial 
management operations, and the preparation and audit of financial 
statements that include all trust funds and the issuance of an 
annual management report, designed to explain precisely where 
the agency stands financially.192 The Bureau of Indian Affairs has 

185Letter from Executive Associate Director, Office of Management and Budget to Under Sec
retary of the Interior, Oct. 4, 1989, attachment B. See also: Secretary of the Interior, "Annual 
Statement and Report, Federal Managers' Financial Integrity Act," Dec. 21, 1989, at 2. "Budget 
of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1992," 102d Cong., 1st sess., Feb. 4, 1991, House 
Document 102-3, part 2, at 306. "Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1993," 
Jan. 29, 1992, part 1, at 345. 

186 "Budget of the United States Government, Fiscal Year 1993," January 29, 1992, part 1, at 
345.

187Supra at attachment C, "* * * a program/review process to establish priority actions to 
address material weaknesses and audit followup should be established by program managers 
and monitored by the Deputy Secretary * * * the correction of major weaknesses should be 
identified in Department budget and operating plans to assure appropriate allocation of re-
sources to correct the problems. See also: Letter from the Secretary of the Interior to the Presi
dent, Dec. 21, 1989, Secretary's annual statement and report, Federal Managers' Financial In
tegrity Act; Office of Management and Budget, "OMB's High Risk Initiative, Areas Requiring
Priority Attention," November 1990. 

188Office of Management and Budget, "Report on Status of Progress In Interior Department's 
High Risk Areas," November, 1990.

189 Exhibit 1, May 20, 1991 hearing at 50-53. Letter from Chairman Synar to OMB Director 
Richard Darman, May 9, 1991, asking for a summary of the Bureau's actions to implement the 
OMB directive. Letter from Associate Director of OMB Robert E. Grady, May 17, 1991, explain
ing that "OMB was never provided a strategic plan." 

190 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 
in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Strategic Planning," GAO-AFMD-92-38, March 1992, at 13-

1915 U.S.C. §§5313, 5315; 31 U.S.C. §§501, 502-506, 901, 902, 903, 1105, 3511, 3512, 3515, 3521, 
9105, 9106; 38 U.S.C. 201; 42 U.S.C. 3533; Public Law 101-576, 104 Stat. 2044.

192 Statement of Jeffrey Steinhoff, Director of Civil Audits, U.S. General Accounting Office, 
Accounting and Financial Management Division, May 20, 1991 hearing transcript at 6, 8. 
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not yet selected its Bureau CFO, who would be responsible for 
Indian trust funds and financial management, among other 
duties.193 

On May 6, 1991, the Comptroller General wrote the Secretary of 
the Interior Manuel Lujan, Jr. and the Bureau directing the De
partment and BIA to prepare a written statement of actions to be 
taken to correct longstanding management deficiencies at the 
Bureau; to develop plans and timetables for completing the audit 
and reconciliation of Indian trust accounts; to develop policies and 
procedures to ensure that Indian trust fund balances remain accu
rate after the accounts are reconciled; and, to direct the Depart
ment's CFO to ensure that the Bureau's management improvement 
initiatives tie into and support the CFO's objectives.194 This request 
was underscored at the subcommittee's May 20, 1991, oversight 
hearing when GAO discussed the need for BIA to prepare a strate
gic management plan for trust fund financial management im-

195provements. 
Under Federal law,196 when the Comptroller General makes a 

report that include a recommendation to the head of an agency, 
the head of the agency shall submit a written statement on action 
to be taken on the recommendation within 60 days from receipt of 
the GAO letter. This report in response to the Comptroller Gener
al's recommendation must be forwarded to the House Committee 
on Government Operations and its Senate counterpart, the Com
mittee on Governmental Affairs, as well as to the House and 
Senate Appropriations Committees. Under OMB regulations, the 
agency must also notify OMB. The Secretary's August 1, 1991, re
sponse to the Comptroller General concurred with GAO's recom
mended recommendations, but reported no concrete corrective ac
tions to implement the reforms.197 

The House Appropriations Committee report 198 for the Depart
ment of the Interior s fiscal year 1992 appropriations required the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs to develop a strategic plan for tribal and 
IIM trust fund management. As part of the planning process the 
Bureau was instructed to look at alternatives, including a determi
nation as to whether portions of the trust operation could be per-
formed under contract, or by tribes themselves, in a more efficient 
manner than by the Bureau. 

In response to these directives, in early July 1991, BIA developed 
an interim plan for improving trust fund financial management 
and presented it to the Intertribal Monitoring Association. After a 
review of the plan, ITMA representatives informed the Deputy As-

19.3 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 
in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing A Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-
38, March 1992.

194 Under the authority of 31 U.S.C. 720, Public Law 97-258, 96 Stat. 896, "when the Comptrol
ler General makes report that includes a recommendation to the head of an agency, the head of 
the agency shall submit a written statement on action taken on the recommendation by the 
head of the agency. The statement shall be submitted to: (1) the Committee on Governmental 
Affairs and the Committee on Government Operations of the House of Representatives before 
the 61st day after the date of the report * * * " 

195 May 20, 1991, hearing transcript at 16.
196 31 U.S.C. 720, Public Law 97-258, 96 Stat. 896. 
197 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 

in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing a Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-
38, March 1992.

198 House Report 102-116 (H.R. 2686), June 19, 1991, at 62. 
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sistant Secretary for Indian Affairs and the subcommittee that 
they would not, in any way, endorse an interim plan because, 
among other things: (1) it was not a strategic plan; (2) it was an-
other attempt at listing partial solutions without a comprehensive 
approach to problemsolving; (3) it failed to consider necessary orga
nizational changes, staffing and training requirements; and (4) its 
determination of priorities and target dates for accomplishments 
was arbitrary and overly optimistic.199 

The Deputy Assistant Secretary responded that while he under-
stood ITMA's position, he wanted to be able to respond to Chair-
man Synar's request for a plan by the end of July 1991. However, 
in response to criticism from both the General Accounting Office 
and ITMA about the trust fund interim plan, the Bureau decided 
to put together a separate document, entitled: "Strategic Planning
Framework." On September 17, 1991, BIA provided a draft copy of 
the strategic framework paper to the ITMA and requested com
ments by September 30. Finally, on September 25, 1991, the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs forwarded its "Strategic Planning Frame-
work" to the subcommittee.200 That date was 117 days after the 
June 30, 1991, deadline that Chairman Synar had set to be met 
"without extensions and without excuses." 201 

Later versions were submitted to GAO and ITMA on February 7, 
1992.202 The Intertribal Monitoring Association is still concerned 
that BIA's draft "Strategic Planning Framework" does not address 
staffing and organization issues as a basis for developing its strate
gic plan. As an example, BIA filled vacant positions and hired addi
tional staff to support the trust fund account reconciliation project 
without first analyzing how these staffing changes might impact on 
an overall strategic plan.203 The Association and the GAO have also 
expressed concern that BIA was moving forward to implement its 
interim plan for trust funds. As with staffing, it is unclear how the 
interim plan relates to the strategic plan, or whether the short-
term corrective actions will be consistent with short- and long-term 
corrective actions developed for the strategic plan.204 

BIA's initial draft of the "Strategic Planning Framework" lacked 
some of the key elements of a strategic plan. This framework did 
not provide for an analysis of the Bureau of Indian Affairs' mission 
and goals and it did not contain an assessment of how best to orga-

199 Letter from ITMA project director to Deputy Assistant Secretary of the Interior for Indian 
Affairs, Sept. 30, 1991, with attached "Comments on Draft Copy of Strategic Planning Frame-
work," (documents available in subcommittee offices). 

200 Letter to Chairman Synar from Assistant Secretary-Indian Affairs, Sept. 25, 1991, Appen
dix, May 20, 1991 hearing, at 182-186. 

201 May 20, 1991, hearing at 168-169.
202 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 

in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing A Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-
38, March 1992. 

203 Staffing and training have been a significant problem at BIA throughout the past decade. 
See: Subcommittee's May 20, 1991, hearing at 165-169. These problems continue to be met with 
makeshift, short-term remedies. Unfortunately, it is not apparent how BIA can make intelligent 
staffing decisions without addressing the underlying causes of its continuing financial manage
ment crisis and without a comprehensive plan including a staffing and organizational plan. In 
fact, as of Jan. 28, 1992, according to Mr. Jim Parris, Director of the BIA's Office of Trust Fund 
Management (OTFM), only 37 of OFTM's 51 authorized staff positions in the fiscal year 1992 
appropriation were actually filled with full-time BIA employees. 

204 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 
in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing A Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-
38, March 1992. 
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nize and staff the Bureau to carry out trust fund operations. In ad
dition, the framework did not discuss key factors, which are outside 
the control of the Office of Trust Fund Management, but which 
have consequences that directly effect trust fund accounting.205 Fi
nally, the initial draft did not articulate BIA's plan for reviewing
the current trust financial management systems and procedures 
even though such studies are necessary to support appropriate 
action to correct BIA's longstanding financial management defi
ciencies. 

After consultation with GAO and ITMA, BIA submitted a revised 
version of its "Strategic Planning Framework" to GAO, ITMA and 
the subcommittee on February 7, 1992. The revised framework is 
an improvement over earlier versions, because it addresses the 
need for (1) an analysis of the Bureau's mission and goals; (2) an 
assessment of the factors within the Bureau and outside the 
Bureau that affect trust fund accounting; (3) an organizational 
framework across the Bureau to support trust fund management; 
and, (4) a review of BIA's current trust fund financial management 
systems and procedures.206 

While the revised framework is an improvement over the Sep
tember 1991 version, it fails to address other problems outside the 
control of the Office of Trust Fund Management that directly effect 
trust fund accounting, including fractionation of Indian land own
ership interests. The continued fractionation of land ownership
complicates BIA's recordkeeping, puts undue stress on trust ac
counting, and the cost of maintaining voluminous records may be 
excessive.207 

In summary, BIA's "Strategic Planning Framework" demon
strates a lack of understanding by BIA management that an assess
ment of organization, staffing, and operations should come first, to 
provide a basis for planning. For example, to develop a resolute 
action plan necessary to solve the structural problems that have 
besieged the financial management of the Indian trust fund for 
decades and provide a meaningful blueprint for hard-nosed applica
tion of sound management practices, all elements of BIA's trust 
fund financial systems should be considered, including investment 
and disbursement. To assure Congress, the public, and the native 
American community that the Department and the Bureau are 
committed to, and will be successful in, professional and competent 
financial management of the Indian trust fund and restoring the 
Bureau's administrative credibility, all trust fund policies and pro
cedures should be reviewed and revised, as appropriate. To show 
demonstrable improvement in the financial management of the 
Indian trust fund, records management—including ownership
records maintenance—should be included in a comprehensive stra
tegic plan. Moreover, the framework and a strategic plan need to 
fully address actions necessary to ensure that BIA has a reliable 
trust fund accounting system. 

205 These factors include: MMS's royalty payment and reporting problems and BLM's over-
sight of Indian minerals leases, which are discussed above. 

206 Letter from Assistant Secretary for Indian Affairs to ITMA, Feb. 7, 1992 (document avail-
able in subcommittee office). 

207 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Indian Programs: Profile of Land Ownership at 12 Reser
vations," GAO-RCED-92-96BR, Feb. 10, 1992. 
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The committee believes that Bureau management needs a better 
understanding of the purpose of a strategic plan and how to devel
op one. Its draft "Strategic Planning Framework" falls far short of 
what is needed. Moreover, it was prepared without adequate con
sideration of input from the Intertribal Monitoring Association, as 
evidenced by the association's comments. 

Under an agreement with BIA, the association has begun efforts 
to prepare a conceptual paper for developing a strategic plan. The 
association is in the process of identifying organizational issues as 
well as program and process issues. The association is seeking
input from the tribes and IIM accountholders, as well as profes
sionals, in the areas of investments, systems, royalty accounting, as 
well as overall strategic planning. BIA would do well to consider 
these areas, as well as performance of an organizational study, 
before presuming to develop a framework for strategic planning. 

The committee's continuing review reveals that BIA has not pre-
pared a bona fide strategic action plan—notwithstanding the clear 
direction to do so by the Office of Management and Budget, the 
Comptroller General of the United States, the House Appropria
tions Committee and the Environment, Energy and Natural Re-
sources Subcommittee. In fact, there is no indication that BIA has 
prepared any comprehensive action plan for correcting its long-
standing management problems. 

For example, despite the preparation of the "Strategic Frame-
work" the Bureau has no plan for achieving reliable, timely trust 
fund financial management and reporting. There is no consistent 
or comprehensive compilation of specific initiatives, within a stra
tegic plan, for correcting identified weaknesses. The Bureau has 
not compiled a list of the managers responsible for implementing
its initiatives. As noted above, the Bureau has not identified, com
mitted or prepared to train the necessary staff.208 And, the Bureau 
has not established any milestone dates for completing identified 
corrective actions.209 

Over the course of the subcommittee's investigation and four 
oversight hearings, perhaps there was one statement that best 
summarizes the Bureau's indifference to the plight of Indian trust 
fund accountholders. Representative Bustamante best said it on 
April 24, 1990, in the following comments to the Assistant Secre
tary for Indian Affairs: 

We have 300,000 accounts. We have about 350 tribes in 
the United States. It is really sad that these people have 
been misrepresented by BIA. The BIA should look after 
these people. They have no real representation in Con
gress. 

I have a tribe that I represent in my district, but 
throughout the years, most of these people have been used, 
abused by many, and you in the BIA, ought to be the ones 
that really look after them. 

208 See: Statement of Jeffrey Steinhoff, U.S. General Accounting Office, Director of Civil 
Audits, Accounting and Financial Management Division, May 20, 1991, hearing, at 6. 

209 U.S. General Accounting Office, "Financial Management: BIA Has Made Limited Progress 
in Reconciling Trust Accounts and Developing A Strategic Plan," Draft Report GAO-AFMD-92-
38, March 1992. 
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If this happened in Social Security, I will tell you, there 
would be a war. If we can manage Social Security, we 
ought to be able to manage this. I understand that it is 
going to take time and we want to help you, but you are 
going to have to take a more aggressive posture in this 
area.210 

Sadly, almost 2 years later, very little has changed. Nor is it likely 
to change in any meaningful respect without full implementation 
of the changes recommended below. 

IV. SUMMARY 

The Bureau of Indian Affairs [BIA] has failed to fulfill its fiduci
ary duties to the beneficiaries of the Indian trust fund. The Bu
reau's management of the Indian trust fund has been grossly inad
equate in numerous important respects. The Bureau has failed to 
accurately account for trust fund moneys. Indeed, it cannot even 
provide accountholders with meaningful periodic statements on 
their account balances. It cannot consistently and prudently invest 
trust funds and pay interest to accountholders. It does not have 
consistent written policies or procedures that cover all of its trust 
fund accounting practices. Under the management of the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, the Indian trust fund is equivalent to a bank that 
doesn't know how much money it has. 

Financial management problems in the Bureau of Indian Affairs' 
management of the Indian trust fund have been neglected for dec
ades. There is a continuing crisis in the management of the Bureau 
of Indian Affairs that can only be cured by radical changes in lead
ership, organization, accountability, and communication by the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Department of the Interior. 

The real losers in the mismanagement of the Indian trust fund 
are the Tribes and the individual Indian accountholders. These ac
countholders are being misrepresented by the Federal Government. 
Yet victims of this nonfeasance have had no recourse except to the 
very agency that is responsible for their predicament. 

As noted by Representative Bustamante, had this type of mis
management taken place in any other trust arrangements such as 
Social Security, there would be war. Instead, some of those most re
sponsible for the recent failures within the management of the 
Indian trust fund received cash awards from the Department of the 
Interior for management excellence. 

The scope and severity of the gross mismanagement by the BIA 
headquarters staff is made worse by the inattentive and indifferent 
leadership within the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Depart
ment of the Interior. This type of trust fund mismanagement 
would never be tolerated in other, similar trust activities. That it 
has taken place in the administration of the Federal Government's 
sacred trust for native Americans can only be described as a na
tional disgrace. 

The trust of the Congress, the taxpayers—and most important
ly—the tribes and individual Indian money accountholders has 

210 Apr. 24, 1990, hearing at 27. 
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been misplaced in the Bureau of Indian Affairs. BIA has failed in 
the performance of its duties to us all. 

V. FINDINGS 

1. The Federal Government is obligated by statute and treaty to 
properly discharge all its fiduciary responsibilities to native Ameri
cans, including accounting for Indian trust funds and accurately
maintaining the trust corpus through prudent management and in-
vestment of the funds, as appropriate, to maximize income to the 
extent possible. 

2. Bureau of Indian Affairs supervision and control of Indian 
trust funds is not adequate to fulfill the Government's fiduciary
duties to the native American beneficiaries of the trust. 

3. Over the past 10 years, scores of reports by the U.S. Depart
ment of the Interior's inspector general, the U.S. General Account
ing Office, the Office of Management and Budget, the Committee of 
Government Operations, independent public accounting firms, as 
well as this subcommittee's oversight investigation have disclosed 
an appalling array of management and accountability failures by
the Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

4. BIA's poor performance of its fiduciary duties is pervasive. 
Moreover, there is little assurance based on past experience that 
profound and persistent problems will ever be corrected by the 
Bureau, so that the Indian trust fund will be properly managed in 
the future. 

5. These continuing management and accounting problems are so 
severe that the President's Office of Management and Budget has 
included BIA's mismanagement of the Indian Trust on its list of 
high risk areas in the Federal Government in need of immediate 
and substantial management and accountability improvements. 

6. The Assistant Secretary of Indian Affairs has failed to provide 
either the leadership or supervision necessary to correct longstand
ing management problems at the Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

7. The decentralized and antiquated organizational and staffing 
structure of the Bureau of Indian Affairs has contributed to an ab
sence of accountability within the Bureau and its failure to correct 
longstanding financial management problems in its administration 
of the Indian trust fund. 

8. The BIA has failed to implement numerous inspector general 
recommendations; failed to implement Office of Management and 
Budget directives and recommendations; failed to implement Comp
troller General recommendations; failed to comply with the Brooks 
Act governing acquisition of automatic data processing equipment 
and services; refused—for 4 years—to comply with Appropriations 
directives to audit and reconcile Indian trust fund accounts; and, 
failed to implement the recommendations of the Committee on 
Government operations. 

9. The Department of the Interior has tolerated the deepening
crisis in Indian trust fund management, acquiescing to inconsistent 
and inadequate performance of trust responsibilities to native 
Americans. In fact, despite longstanding recognition and condem
nation of BIA's poor performance by the Department's Office of In
spector General, the Department of the Interior has taken few 
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steps to make BIA headquarters accountable to the account holders 
for shoddy administration or to implement these corrective action 
recommendations. 

10. The Bureau of Indian Affairs has not yet selected its Bureau 
CFO, who would be responsible for Indian trust funds and financial 
management, among other duties 

11. The Bureau of Indian Affairs' headquarters management 
failed to present to this committee a workable plan of activities 
necessary to solve BIA's long-term financial management problems 
as directed by the Subcommittee on Environment, Energy, and 
Natural Resources on May 20, 1991. Despite efforts to prepare an 
interim improvement plan, there is no evidence that the Bureau 
has made substantial progress in correcting longstanding financial 
management deficiencies. 

12. The Department of the Interior has failed to establish an 
overall departmental strategy for solving the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs' financial and program management problems. 

13. The absence of an adequate organization plan and staffing 
and training programs for agency personnel has greatly reduced 
the efficiency of Bureau of Indian Affairs' headquarters and the 
Office of Trust Fund and area and agency offices. As a result the 
many dedicated and capable Bureau of Indian Affairs' employees 
throughout the Nation are being poorly served by the isolated and 
ineffectual leadership of the BIA headquarters. 

14. The Bureau's grudging and irregular efforts to include tribes 
and beneficiaries in Indian trust fund decisions have been wholly
inadequate in substance and totally inconsistent with efforts to pro-
mote greater native American self-sufficiency. 

15. The Bureau wasted more than 2 years and $1 million of tax-
payer money in an aborted effort to contract out significant trust 
fund functions to Security Pacific National Bank. Indeed, BIA seri
ously mismanaged the contract from the outset. In its bid solicita
tion BIA mistakenly bundled together several diverse financial 
services so broad that only one firm qualified for the contract 
award. Then BIA failed to perform adequate supervision of the con-
tractor; failed to demand performance by the contractor; failed to 
demand delivery of services or contract deliverables by the contrac
tor and subcontractor; and, failed to protect the interests of the in
dividual Indians, tribes or the taxpayers. 

16 The BIA's continuing refusal to reconcile audit and certify all 
Indian trust fund accounts was arbitrary, capricious unreasonable 
and contrary to the clear congressional intent as expressed in five 
successive Federal laws governing the BIA's annual appropriations 
from 1987 to 1991. The Bureau initiated such audit and reconcilia
tion effort only after concerted pressure by the subcommittee. Had 
the Bureau complied with the congressional directives in a timely 
and responsible fashion, it could have saved taxpayer money and 
prevented additional hardships among Indian trust fund account-
holders. 

17. Despite the May 10, 1991, award to Arthur Andersen & Co. of 
a contract to reconstruct and reconcile 17,000 IIM accounts and the 
various accounts of 37 larger tribes and the expenditure of more 
than $1.7 million in tax dollars, little progress has been made in 
reconstructing and reconciling the books of the Indian trust funds. 
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18. If the Bureau's longstanding financial management, staffing, 
and organizational problems are not corrected, no substantial bene
fits derived from reconciling and auditing all 300,000 Indian trust 
fund accounts will be realized. 

19. If longstanding data collection and management problems at 
the Minerals Management Service and the Bureau of Land Man
agement are not corrected, no substantial benefits derived from 
reconciling and auditing the 300,000 Indian trust fund accounts 
will be realized. 

20. Continuing mismanagement and incompetence in the supervi
sion and control of Indian trust funds present a clear danger to the 
American taxpayer, who must bear the financial burden of com
pensating trust fund account holders for BIA's breach of fiduciary
duties. 

21. Current law authorizes, but does not appear to require BIA to 
invest and earn interest on IIM account moneys held in trust; nor, 
therefore, would current law appear to require BIA to compensate 
IIM accountholders for interest lost because funds were not invest
ed by BIA. Accordingly, current law inappropriately distinguishes 
between BIA's fiduciary responsibilities to tribal accountholders 
and IIM accountholders with respect investment of funds held in 
trust. 

VI. RECOMMENDATIONS 

On the basis of the subcommittee's indepth investigation and the 
foregoing report, the Committee on Government Operations makes 
the following recommendations. 

A. SOLVING BIA'S FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT DEFICIENCIES 

Recommended administrative actions by BIA.—The Bureau of 
Indian Affairs, acting in close consultation with tribal and individ
ual Indian money accountholders' representatives, must prepare 
and implement a comprehensive strategy for correcting well-docu
mented, longstanding financial management deficiencies in the ad-
ministration of the Indian trust fund. To achieve substantive im
provements, the Bureau of Indian Affairs must replace its piece-
meal, and often, unaccountable management-by-initiatiye style 
with a comprehensive financial management plan, including a fi
nancial systems plan and a financial management organization 
structure supported by a cadre of trained accounting professionals. 

The deficiencies that BIA must correct include: (1) inadequate 
systems for accounting for and reporting trust fund balances; (2) in-
adequate controls over receipts and disbursements; (3) absence of 
periodic, timely reconciliations to assure accuracy of accounts; (4)
inability to determine accurate cash balances; failure to consistent
ly and prudently invest trust funds and/or pay interest to ac
countholders; (5) inability to prepare and supply accountholders 
with meaningful periodic statements of their account balances; (6)
absence of consistent, written policies and procedures for trust fund 
management and accounting; and (7) inadequate staffing, supervi
sion, and training. 

Accordingly, in correcting its longstanding management deficien
cies the Bureau of Indian Affairs must implement the following 
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corrective actions to assure that it exercises proper control and ac
countability for each trust fund and each account therein and to 
overcome the cumulative effects of years of poor financial manage
ment systems and practices: 

(1) BIA must develop and implement, in consultation with 
tribal and IIM accountholders, a comprehensive strategic man
agement reform package to: Reform organizational and struc
tural weaknesses that thwart the Bureau's effectiveness and 
mission; BIA must develop and implement a comprehensive or
ganization, staffing, and training plan that will ensure that the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs has a cadre of qualified and trained 
accounting professionals that has the capacity to carry out the 
broad authorities envisioned by the Chief Financial Officers 
Act; adopt and enforce strict priorities for financial and man
agement improvements; adopt and adhere to planning and im
plementation milestones; and support the Department's 5-year 
financial management plan required by the Chief Financial Of
ficers Act. 

(2) BIA must prepare a financial management systems plan 
as a basis for implementing modern, integrated accounting, 
budget, and financial systems. 

(3) BIA must implement strong material internal controls. 
(4) BIA must prepare and have audited financial statements, 

which can pass the test of relevance, usefulness and account-
ability as required by the Chief Financial Officers Act. 

(5) BIA must prepare financial information on costs and per
formance measurement, which tie into financial reports, as 
well as program operations. 

(6) The Bureau's chief financial officer must be qualified ac
cording to the requirements of the Chief Financial Officers' 
Act and must be charged with the responsibility of preparing 
annual reports required by the Chief Financial Officers Act 
that present the results of the Bureau's financial operations. 

Recommended administrative actions by the Department of the 
Interior.—The Department of the Interior, acting in consultation 
with tribal and individual Indian money accountholders represent
atives, must prepare and implement a comprehensive strategy for 
correcting well-documented, longstanding management deficiencies 
outside the control of Office of Trust Fund Management in the 
MMS, BLM and BIA Realty Office operations, including collection 
and distribution of royalties and other income, leasing of land and 
mineral rights and maintenance of ownership records. Deficiencies 
in these operations outside the control of BIA's Office of Trust 
Fund Management needlessly complicate the administration, man
agement, investment and distribution of trust fund income and in
terest on behalf of accountholders and has failed to reduce the pro
liferation of fractionated realty and royalty interests in Indian 
lands. 

To correct these deficiencies the Department of the Interior must 
require the Bureau of Indian Affairs, the Minerals Management 
Service, and the Bureau of Land Management to design and imple
ment remedial actions to assure that the Department exercises 
proper control and accountability for each trust fund and over-
comes the cumulative effects of decades of poor financial manage-
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ment practices. Unless the problems created by these elements of 
the Department are confronted and corrected adequately through 
significant changes where necessary, BIA will not be able to ade
quately resolve its longstanding trust fund financial management 
problems. 

The Department of the Interior, working with the appropriate 
BIA, MMS, and BLM staff and in consultation with tribal and indi
vidual Indian money accountholders representatives, must develop 
a comprehensive strategic management reform package that will 
ensure: Maintenance of accurate and up-to-date tribal and individ
ual land ownership records; development of an accounts receivable 
system for all trust fund billings and collections; prompt and accu
rate collection of all lease and royalty income; accurate and timely
distribution of all lease payments; and production of accurate peri
odic account statements that contain clear and concise information 
on royalty and lease payments. 

B. SOLVING BIA'S ACCOUNTABILITY AND FINANCIAL REPORTING 
PROBLEMS 

Recommended administrative actions by the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs.—The Bureau of Indian Affairs, acting in consultation with 
tribal and individual Indian money accountholders representative, 
must prepare and implement a comprehensive strategy for correct
ing well-documented problems in financial reporting. Accordingly, 
the Bureau of Indian Affairs must design and implement the fol
lowing corrective actions to assure that it exercises proper control 
and accountability for each trust fund and to overcome the cumula
tive effects of years of poor financial management systems and 
practices: 

BIA must ensure that a complete set of policy and procedural 
manuals are prepared for trust fund management to provide appro
priate accounting guidance for the Office of Trust Fund Manage
ment, area offices and agency offices. These manuals should ad-
dress the following structural, organizational, staffing, and training
inadequacies, including: (1) maintenance of ownership records and 
allocations for income distributions; closing inactive accounts; (2) 
proper transaction posting for receipts, investments, and payments 
and income distributions; (3) adequacy of accounting documenta
tion for transactions and adjustments; (4) periodic, timely account 
reconciliations between financial systems and account balances; (5)
investment management, posting interest accruals, proper transac
tion recording, and accurate and timely recording of maturities, 
premiums and discounts; (6) financial records management; (7) fi
nancial reporting on trust fund balances, financial statements to 
accountholders, and required Treasury and agency management re-
ports; and (8) adequate internal controls to ensure trust funds are 
safeguarded against loss. 

BIA must take immediate action to address systems inadequacies 
and to complete reconciliations between the trust fund financial ac
counting system and the IRMS system; ensure consistent manage
ment and operation of the IRMS system, which currently operates 
independently at five different Bureau offices; ensure that staff in-
putting data to the trust fund accounting system are properly 
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trained and supervised; eliminate the maintenance of manual 
records outside the automated systems, or ensure that appropriate 
summaries of manual records are entered in the automated sys
tems; and assess trust fund financial systems needs and current ca
pabilities as a basis for developing and acquiring modern, integrat
ed trust fund financial systems in order to provide proper account
ing and reliable financial reporting of trust fund, tribal account, 
and individual Indian account balances. 

C. COMPENSATING LOSSES DUE TO BIA's MISMANAGEMENT 

Recommended administrative actions by the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs.—The Bureau of Indian Affairs, acting in consultation with 
tribal and individual Indian money accountholders representatives, 
must prepare and implement a comprehensive written policy that 
accurately defines trust fund losses for which the Bureau of Indian 
Affairs is liable, fully describes the documentation necessary to es
tablish a loss and clearly explains how and when accountholders 
will be reimbursed for losses. The Bureau of Indian Affairs must 
also articulate actions it will undertake to implement routine 
checks in trust fund accounting and management systems to un
cover losses, to identify errors that might result in losses as they 
occur, and to train Bureau of Indian Affairs staff so as to minimize 
losses in the future. Similarly, BIA should develop policies and pro
cedures, including notice procedures, for circumstances in which 
the Bureau believes that accountholders may have received over-
payments from trust funds. 

D. REPORTING ON EFFORTS TO RESOLVE BIA'S PROBLEMS 

Recommended administrative actions by the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs.—Bureau of Indian Affairs, acting in consultation with tribal 
and individual Indian money accountholders, should report to the 
House Committee on Government Operations and Senate Commit-
tee on Governmental Affairs within 60 days after the publication of 
this report on progress toward implementing the recommendations 
contained herein. Thereafter, the Bureau should report to these 
committees every 6 months until all recommendations have been 
implemented and it is in full compliance with congressional direc
tives; accounting standards of the U.S. General Accounting Office; 
Office of Management and Budget regulations; and recommenda
tions of the inspector general of the Department of the Interior. 

E. SOLVING BIA'S ACCOUNTABILITY PROBLEMS 

Recommended legislative actions by House Committee on Interior 
and Insular Affairs and the Senate Select Committee on Indian Af
fairs.—The House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and 
the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should continue vig
orous oversight of the Bureau of Indian Affairs' management of the 
$2 billion Indian trust fund. The committee believes that the com
mittees should consider the following reform of the laws governing
the Department of the Interior's responsibilities for managing, ad-
ministering, and investing tribal and individual Indian funds to 
assure that the Department of the Interior and the Bureau of 
Indian Affairs exercise proper control and accountability for each 
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trust fund and to overcome the cumulative effects of many years of 
poor financial management systems and practices. 

The Native American Trust Fund Equity Act.—The .committee 
believes the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and 
Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should favorably report 
H.R. 1756, the Native American Trust Fund Equity Act of 1991, 
which would require the Secretary of Interior to invest in a produc
tive manner and to pay interest to accountholders for failure to 
invest prudently funds held in trust for individual native Ameri
cans. 

On March 25, 1991, the Comptroller General concluded that the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs is not legally required to pay interest on 
individual Indian moneys [IIM] accounts because current law, 25 
U.S.C. 162a, governing the investment of funds does not require the 
payment of interest on these accounts. Consequently, the BIA may 
not be liable to IIM account holders for loss of interest, even those 
losses resulting from the Bureau's failure to manage IIM invest
ments properly. 

The Comptroller General's Decision, B-243029, has the force of 
law. Title 31 authorizes the Comptroller General to advise agencies 
on how they may spend their appropriations (31 U.S.C. 3529) and, 
to settle claims against the Government. Technically, this decision 
was an advance determination advising the Bureau of Indian Af
fairs that it would be in violation of appropriations laws to pay im
puted, unearned interest on IIM accounts. In effect, the decision 
also advises the Bureau on how the General Accounting Office 
would settle claims filed against the Bureau for imputed interest in 
IIM accounts. 

The Comptroller General's decision turns on the wording of 25 
U.S.C. 162a, which authorizes the Secretary to invest IIM moneys, 
but does not require him to do so. Clearly, the Bureau should be 
required to invest these funds and to make them as productive as 
possible for the beneficiaries. H.R. 1756 will do just that and it will 
require the Secretary of the Interior to pay lost interest resulting
from past BIA failures to properly manage IIM investments. H.R. 
1756 reinforces the Nation s moral and ethical obligations to indi
vidual Indian moneys accountholders. By its enactment, Congress 
will fill the gap in the authority of the Secretary of the Interior by
requiring the Secretary to do what any fiduciary in the private 
sector would otherwise do; however, any expenditures under such 
authority will be subject to the annual appropriations process. 

Greater accountholder control over their funds.—The committee 
believes that the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs 
and the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should conduct 
a thorough review of proposals by tribes and the first nations fi
nancial project to provide greater local participation, control, and 
decisionsmaking in the administration of the Indian trust fund, in
cluding proposals that allow tribes to withdraw lands, natural re-
sources and moneys from trust management by redirecting Indian 
trust fund investments into local financial institutions to maximize 
the tribal and individual Indian accountholders economic leverage. 

For example, the committee believes that the House Committee 
on Interior and Insular Affairs and the Senate Select Committee 
on Indian Affairs should carefully consider alternatives that would 
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allow tribes and individual Indians greater control and flexibility
in the management of their trust funds, without eliminating the 
trust responsibility. These alternatives could include: Authorizing
tribes to manage their own funds within the trust status with man
agement plans and actual management subject to trustee approval 
and monitoring; authorizing tribes to direct the trustee on how to 
manage tribal funds, such as investing tribal trust funds in local 
banks to allow the tribes to realize greater economic leverage from 
their funds; and authorizing tribes and other representatives of 
IIM accountholders to manage IIM accounts subject to appropriate 
controls and trustee supervision and monitoring. 

Other examples of alternatives to the present management struc
ture include self-determination and out-of-trust models, these alter-
natives are well worth extensive review, including authorization of 
demonstration projects to test management results and test accept
ance among accountholders. Authorizing a series of tribal demon
stration programs to test various tribal-trustee joint management 
efforts may be the most efficient method of introducing voluntary
alternatives to BIA management. In the short term such demon
strations may not drastically alter the manner in which tribal and 
IIM accountholders' funds are managed, but over the next decade 
successful demonstrations could lead the way toward greater ac
countholder control and management of their own funds 

Greater management flexibility.—The committee believes that 
the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and the 
Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should conduct a thor
ough review of a wide range of financial management alternatives, 
contracting with a third party for certain specified account mainte
nance services, leasing an accounting system that BIA would oper
ate itself, entering into a cross-servicing arrangement for account
ing services with another Federal agency, or transferring trust 
fund accounting and investment activities. Each of these alterna
tives should be carefully weighed as the committees search for a 
least-cost, best-service alternative to BIA's continuing manage
ment. However, the committee believes that any contracting effort 
must follow rather than proceed BIA's completion of a strategic 
plan as outlined in recommendations above. Twice over the past 
decade, BIA has attempted to privatize the financial management 
of Indian trust with disastrous and wasteful results, because BIA 
did not know its own management needs. Therefore, it is of para-
mount concern that any future contracting effort be undertaken 
only in implementation of a strategic plan to correct the BIA's 
longstanding financial management deficiencies. 

Require tribal and IIM accountholder consultation.—The com
mittee believes that the House Committee on Interior and Insular 
Affairs and the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should 
consider a statutory requirement that the Bureau of Indian Affairs 
formally consult with tribes and beneficiaries of the Indian trust 
fund prior to the issuance and publication of any request for pro
posals for any contract for investment services or financial man
agement services; development of a comprehensive strategic man
agement plan; loss notification and indemnification policy; and pro-
gram or functional reorganizations. 



65


Clarify trust responsibility.—The committee believes that the 
House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and the Senate 
Select Committee on Indian Affairs should consider a reorganiza
tion of the Department of the Interior to clarify its Indian trust re
sponsibilities and duties as a fiduciary; specify its obligation to act 
as a sophisticated trustee to accurately account to the beneficiaries 
of the Indian trust fund; to make accounts productive for the bene
ficiaries; to maximize the trust income through prudent invest
ment; to perform as a highly diligent and resourceful manager. 

Reduce burden of fractionated interests.—The committee believes 
that the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs and the 
Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should consider propos
als to authorize tribes to consolidate or acquire fractionated inter
ests in lands, moneys and natural resources to maximize tribal eco
nomic leverage and to reduce the taxpayers' cost of administering 
and managing thousands of minuscule ownership interests. 

Strengthen accountholder control over resources.—The committee 
believes that the House Committee on Interior and Insular Affairs 
and the Senate Select Committee on Indian Affairs should consider 
proposals to strengthen tribal and individual Indian accountholders 
control over oil and gas leasing, contracting, lease compliance, su
pervision of development, production, operating activities, fiscal ac
counting and auditing by consolidating the responsibilities imposed 
on the Secretary of the Interior under existing law and providing 
to the tribes an opportunity to play a greater role in carrying out 
these responsibilities. 

Recommended legislative actions by the Committees on Appropria
tions.—The committee believes the Committees on Appropriations 
should continue to include the following proviso in its annual ap
propriations act until a full and fair accounting of all accounts in 
the Indian trust has been completed: 

That none of the funds in this act shall be used by the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs to transfer funds under contract with 
any third party for the management of tribal or individual 
Indian trust funds until the funds held in trust for such tribe 
or individual have been audited and reconciled to the earliest 
possible date, the results of such reconciliation have been au
dited and certified by an independent party as the most com
plete reconciliation of such funds possible, and the tribe or in
dividual has been provided with an accounting of such funds. 

F. RESOLVING BIA'S PROBLEMS BY TRANSFERRING THE INDIAN TRUST 
FUND 

Recommended legislative actions by Congress.—The committee 
believes that, to date, close congressional oversight and supervision 
of the Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Department of the Interior 
have failed to effect fundamental improvements in the Bureau's 
management of the $2 billion Indian trust fund. The committee is 
skeptical that either the Bureau of Indian Affairs or the Depart
ment of the Interior will take the resolute action necessary to solve 
the structural problems that have besieged the financial manage
ment of the Indian trust fund for decades; that they will undertake 
the hard-nosed application of sound management practices; or, that 
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they will even develop a thorough understanding of and commit
ment to fulfilling their statutory role as a competent fiduciary and 
sophisticated trustee. Indeed the committee is skeptical that any 
reform package developed by Bureau personnel will be adequate to 
assure Congress, the public, or the native American community 
that the Department and the Bureau are committed to, and will be 
successful in, professionally competent financial management of 
the Indian trust fund or restoring the Bureau's administrative 
credibility. 

Nevertheless, because of the Bureau's recent—long overdue—ef
forts to consult and cooperate with tribal and individual Indian ac
countholders in managing their own funds and to name a qualified 
director of a unified Office of Trust Fund Management, the com
mittee is willing to allow a reasonable period of time for the 
Bureau of Indian Affairs and the Department of the Interior to 
show demonstrable improvement in the financial management of 
the Indian trust fund. Should no demonstrable improvement be 
shown within 6 to 9 months, the committee recommends that Con
gress consider transferring administration and control of the 
Indian trust fund from the Department of the Interior to another 
appropriate agency such as the Federal Reserve Board to serve as 
fiscal agent for the trust fund. 

However, the Government's obligation to account for Indian 
trust funds requires it to "affirmatively establish that it [has] prop
erly discharged its trust" and it is no longer prudent to constantly 
extend the BIA's deadline for implementing corrective actions. 
Moreover, since the BIA has thus far been unable to demonstrate 
the accuracy of its accounting of trust funds, BIA's continuing fail
ure to correct longstanding financial management deficiencies may 
result in the Government's liability to the tribes for a breach of its 
fiduciary duties and should not be tolerated. Designating a new 
fiscal agent—a role for which the Federal Reserve seems best 
equipped—will not, in itself, solve many of the BIA's longstanding 
financial management that have plagued the management of the 
Indian trust fund; however, it will assure that the Federal Govern
ment's fiduciary responsibilities to Indian trust fund accounthold
ers are being fulfilled—an assurance that cannot be realized in the 
BIA or the Department of the Interior without radical changes in 
the management and operation of the Indian trust fund. 
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